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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SQUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
V. 09 Cr 213 (DC)
BERNARD L. MADOFF,

Defendant.

New York, N.Y.
March 12, 2009
10:00 a.m.

Before:
HON. DENNY CHIN,

Digtrict Judge

APPEARANCES

TEV L. DASSIN
United States Attorney for the
Southern District of New York
MARC O, LITT
LISA BARONI
Agsistant United States Attorneys

DICKSTEIN SHAPIRO LLP
Attorneys for Defendant
BY : IRA LEE SORKIN
DANTEIL J. HORWITZ
NICOLE P. DE BELLO
MAURO M. WOLFE

ALSO PRESENT: STEVEN GARFINKEL, FBI
KEITH KELLY, FBI
JULIA SCHULTE HANISH, USDOT, FBI
THEQODORE V. CACIOPPL, FBI

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-0300
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{Case called)

MR. LITT: Marc Litt for the United States. With me
at counsel table are Lisa Raroni, an Assistant U.S. Attorney,
and four FBI agents: Steven Garfinkel, Keith Kelly, Julia
Hanish, and Ted Cacioppl. Good meorning, your Honor.

MR. SORKIN: Good morning, vour Honor. On behalf of
the defendant Bernard L. Madoff, the law firm of Dickstein
Shapirc LLP. Mr. Médoff ig sitting to my left. To my right is
Daniel EHorwitz of my firm. o Mr. Madeoff's left is Maurc Wolfe
from my firm, and to Mr. Wolfe's left is Nicole De Bello from
my firm. Geod morning.

THE COURT: Good morning.

Mr. Sorkin, vour client is still prepared to plead
cuilty today as we discussed on Tuesday?

MR. SORKIN: Yes, vour Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Madoff, if vou would stand, please,
and the deputy clerk will administer the oath.

{Defendant sworn)

MR. SORKIN: Your Honor, before you begin the
allocution, we have provided the government and the court
reporter with a copy of the allocution that Mr. Madoff will
read, and we have a copy 1if the Court wishes to see 1t as well.

THE COURT: Yes. Thank vou. |

MR. SORKIN: May I hand it up?

THE COURT: Yes.

SQUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-0300
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This statement is intended to cover all 11 counts?

ME. SORKIN: Yes, vour Honor. After your Honor goes
through, he will give a statement which we believe will cover
all the elements. Thank you,

THE COURT: Mr. Madoff, do vou understand that vou are
now under oath and that if vou answer my guestions falsely,
your untrue answers may later be used against you in another
prosecution for perjury or making false statements?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do.

THE COURT: Try to keep your volce up so that [ can
hear vou, pleaé@.

THE DEFENDANT: VYes, I do, your Honor.

ME. SORKIN: Can we gel some water, your Honor?

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. LITT: I would note that the defendant has not yetb
been arraigned on the information.

THE COURT: All right. That's true. Technically, we
did the first papt aof it., We never did the final part. Let me
just ask the final question.

My . Madoff, the other day you walved indictment and
vou consented ro being charged by an information of the
government, correct?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And how do yvou now plead to the
information, cuilty or not gullty?

SOQUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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THE DEFENDANT: Guilty.

THE COURT: Before I accept the plea I will conduct
the allocution.

Wourld vou state vour full name for the record, please.

THR DEFENDANT: Bernard L.. Madoff.

THE COURT: On Tuesday vou told me your age and
educational background. We talked a little bit about your
medical éondition. Has vour medical condition changed since
Tuesday?

THE DEFENDANT: No, it has not.

THE COURT: In the past 24 hours, have you taken any
drugs, medicine, or pills, or have you drunk any alcohol?

THE DEFENDANT: MNo.

THE COURT: Is vyour mind clear today?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, it is.

THE COURT: And are vou feeling all right today under
the clrcumstances?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I am.

THE COURT: Do either counsel have any doubt as to Mr.
Madoff's competence to plead at this time?

MR, LITT: The government doés not.

MR. SORKIN: No, your Honor.

THE COURT: Now, Mr. Madeff, as I understand it, you
wish to plead guilty today to all 1l counts of the information,

is that correct?

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-84300
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THE DEFENDANT: Yes, 1t is correct.

THE COURT: Have vou had a full opportunity to discuss
vour case with Mr. Sorkin and to discuss the conseguences of
pleading guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, T have.

THE COURT: You told me on Tuesday that vou were
satisfied with Mr. Sorkin and his representation of you. Are
vou still satisfied?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes,

1

anm.

THE COURT: On the bagis of Mr. Madoff's responses to
my questions and my observations of his demeanor, I find that
he is fully competent to enter an informed plea at this time.

Now, Mr. Madoff, before I accept any plea from you I
am going to ask you some additional questions that are intended
to satisfy me that you wish to plead guilty because you are
guilty and that vou fully understand the consequences of vour
plea. If you do not understand any of my guestions, please ask
me or Mr. Sorkin to explain.

I am going to describe to vou certain rights that you
have under the Constitution and laws of the United States. You
will be giving up these rights if you plead guilty, so please
listen carefully.

Under the Constitution and laws of the United States,
vou have a right to a speedy and public trial by a djury on the
charges against you which are contained in the information. If

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-34300
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there were a trial, you would be presumed innocent and the
government would be reguired to prove your guilt by competent
evidence beyond a reascnable doubt. You would not have to
prove that vou were innocent if vou were to go to trial.

If there were a trial, vou would have the right to be
represented by an attorney. And if vou could not afford one,
an aﬁtorn@y would be provided for you free of cost.

If there were a trial, vou would have a right to see
and hear all the witnesses against you and your attorney could
crogs-examine them. You would have a right to have vour
attorney object to the government's evidence and to offer
avidence on vyvour own behalf if vou so desired, and yvou would
have the right to have subpoenas issued or other process used
Lo compel witnessges to testify in your defense.

If there were a trial, vou would have the right to
restify 1if vou wanted to, but no one could force you to testify
1f vou did not want to. Furthermore, no inference or
suggestion of guilt could be drawn 1f vou chose not to testify
at trial.

Mr. Madoff, do vyou understand each and every one of
these rights?

THE DEFENDANT : Yeg, I do.

THE COURT: Do you understand that by pleading guilty
today yéu are giving up each and every one of these vights, you
are waiving these rights, and you will have no trial?

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-0300
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THE DEFENDANT: I do.

THE COURT: Do you understand that you have the right
aven now to refuse to plead guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do.

THE COURT: You do not have to enter a plea of guilty
if vou do not want to, for any reason.

Do you undefstand thatr?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Now, did vou receive a copy of the
information?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I have.

THE COURT: And as we discussed on Tuesday and as we
discussed a moment ago, do you understand that you have waived
your right to be charged by an indictment, which is issued by a
grand jury, and you have consanted te being charged by the
information which is issued by the prosecutor?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: 2nd did vou waive that right voluntarily

‘and knowlngly?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Now, I am going to review the counts with
vou. As we said, the information contains 11 counts.

Count One charges securities fraud.

Count Two charges investment adviser fraud.

Count "Three charges mail fraud.

SQUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-0300
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Count Four charges wire fraud.

Count Five charges intermational money laundering to
promote fraua in the sale of securities.

Count Six charges internaticnal money laundering to
conceal the proceeds of fraud in the sale of securities.

Count Seven charges money laundering.

Count Eight charges making false statements.

Count Nine charges perjury.

Count Ten charges making a false filing with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

and Count Eleven charges theft from an employee
benefit plan.

Do vou understand that those are the charges against
yvou?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do.

THE COURT: I'll ask the government to advige the
defandant of the elements of the crimes.

MR. LITT: Yes, your Honor. With respect to Count
One, securities fraud --

THE COURT: Hold on one second.

Mr. Madoff, vou can be seated. Pour yourself some
water.

THE DEFENDANT: Thank vou.

MR. LITT: With respect to Count Cne, securitles
fraud, in order to prove the crime of securities fraud, the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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government must establish each of the following thres clements
bevond a reasonable doubt:

First, that in connection with the purchase or sale of
& security, the defendant did any one or more of the following:
(1) employed a device, scheme, or artifice to defraund or (2)
made an untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state
a material fact which made what was said under the
circumstances misleading; or (3) engaged in an act, practice,
or course of business that operated or would operate as a fraud
or deceit upon a purchaser or seller.

Second, that the defendant acted knowingly, willifully,
and with the intent to defraud;

and, third, that the defendant knowingly used or
caused to be used any means or instruments of transportation oOr
communicarion in interstate commerce or the use of the mails in
furtherance of the fraudulent conduct.

With respect to investment adviser fraud, the
government would have to prove beyvond a reasconable doubt all
four of the following elements: First, that the defendant was
an investment adviser; second, that the defendant either (&)
emploved a device, scheme, or artifice to defraud clients and
prospective clients; (B] engaged in a transaction, practice, or
couise of business which operated as a fraud or deceit upon
rhose clients and prospective clients; or {(C) engaged in an
act, practice, and course of business that was f[raudulent,

SOUFTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212} B05-0300
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deceptive, and manipulative.

Third, that the defendagt devised or participated in
such alleged device, scheme, or artifice to defraud or engaged
in such alleged transaction, practice, or course of business,
knowingly, willfully, and with intent to defraud.

And, fourth, that the defendant emploved such alleged
device, scheme, or artifice to defraud or engaged in such
alleged transaction, practice, or course of business by use of
the mails or other instrumentality of interstate commerce.

In order to prove the crime of mail fraud, the
government must establish beyond a reasonable doubt the
following four elements:

First, that at or about the time alleged in the
indictment there was a scheme or artifice to defraud in order
to obtain property or money by false and fraudulent pretenses,
representations, or promises;

Second, that the false or fraudulent statements and
representations concerned material facts;

Third, that the defendant knowingly and willfully
devised or participated in the scheme or artifice to defraud
with knowledge of its fraudulent nature and with 5peci£ic
intent to defraud;

and, fourth, that the United States Mails were used in
furtherance of the scheme as specified in the Information.

In order to prove the crime of wire fraud the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-03060
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government must establish the following four essential
clements:

First, that at or about the time alleged in the
information there was & scheme or artifice to defraud in order
to obtaln property or money by falsgse and fraudulent pretenses,
representations, Or promises;

Second, that the false or fraudulent stateoments and
representations co;cerned material facts;

Third, that the defendant knowingly and willfully
devised or participated in the scheme or artifice to defraud
with knowledge of its fraudulent nature and with specific
intent to deiraud

and, fourth, that interstate or forelgn wire
facilities were used in furtherance of the scheme to defraud as
specified in the information.

in order to prove the crime of unlawful transportation
of funds or monetary lnstruments with the invrent to promote the
carrving on of specified unlawful activity, in viclaticn of
Section 1856 (a)i2){a), rthe government must establish beyond a
reasonable doubt each of the following elements:

First, that the defendant transported a monetary
instrument or funds from a place in the United States to or
rhrough a place outside the United States, or to a place in the
tinited Srates from or through a place outside the United
States;

SCUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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and, second, that the defendant did so with the intent
te promote the carrving on of specified unlawful activity.

In order o prove the crime of unlawful transportation
of funds or monetary instruments to conceal and disguise the
proceeds of specified unlawful activity, the government must
establish bhevond a reasonable doubt each of the following:

First, that the defendant transported a monetary
instrument or funds from a place in the United States to or
through a place outside the United States, or to a place in the
Inited States from or through a place outside the United
States;

And, secon&, that the defendant did so with the
knowledge that the monetary instrument or funds involved
represent the proceeds of scme form of unlawful activity;

and, third, that the defendant 4id so with knowledge
that the transportation was designed in whole or in part to
conceal or disgulse the nature, location, source, ownership, or
control of the proceeds of securities fraud, mail fraud, wire
fraud, and theft from an employee benefit plan.

In order to prove the crime of engaging in monetary

activity in viclation of Section 1957, the government must
establish the following bevond a reascnable doubt :

First, that the defendant engaged or attempted to
engage in a monetary transaction in or affecting interstate

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPCRTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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commerce;

Second, that the monetary transaction involved

criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000;

Third, that the property was derived from specified
unlawful activity; in this case, from securities fraud, maill
fraud, wire fraud, or theft from a pension benefit plan;

Fourth, that the defendant acted knowingly; that is,
with knowledge that the transaction involved proceeds of a
criminal offense;

and, Fifth, that the transaction took place in the

- Uniited States or that the defendant 1s a United States person.

In order to prove the crime of making false statements
to the 8EC, in viclation of 18 U.S.C. 1001, the government must
egrablish the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

First, that the defendant made a statement or
representation;

Second, that the statement or repregentation was

material;

Third, that the statement or representation was false,
fictitious or fraudulent;

Fourth, that the false, fictitious or fraudulent
statement was made knowingly or willfulily;

And, fifth, that the statement or representation was
made in a matter within the Jurisdiction of the govermment of
the.United States.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPCRTERS, P.C.
(212) B05-0300
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To prove the crime of perijury the government must
prove bevond a reasonable doubt each of the following:

First, that the defendant took an ocath to testify
truly before the Securities and Exchange Commission, a body
authorized by law to administer ocaths;

Second, that the defendant made false statements as to
matters about which the defendant testified under ocath as set
forth in the information:

Third, that the matters as to which 1t is charged that
the defendant made false statements were material to the issues
under inquiry by the Securities and Exchange Commission;

And, fourth, that such false statements were willfully
made .

To prove the offense of making a false filing with the
SEC the government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt each of
rthe following:

First, that'the defendant was regquired to file an
application, report, or document with the SEC under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the rules and regulations
thereunder;

Second, that the application, report, or document
filed with the SFEC contained false or misleading statements;

Third, that the false or misleading statements were
material;

And, fourth, that the defendant acted knowingly and

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-030C0
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Cowillfully.

To prove the offense of theft from an employee pension
bhenefir plan the government must prove beyond a reasonable
doubt the following elements:

First, that the defendant abstracted or converted to
his own use or the use of others the monies, funds, securities,
premiums, credits, property, or other assets of an employee
welfare benefit plan;:

Second, that the funds abstracted or converted from --
axcuse me, that the fund abstracted or comverted from was an
employee welfare benefit plan within the meaning of the
statute; |

and, third, that the defendant acted knowingly and
willfully.

THF CCURT: Thank vou.

My . Madoff, would vou rise again, please.

Mr. Madoff, do vou understand that 1f you were t£o go
to trial the govermment would have to prove all of those
alements beyvond a reasonable doubt?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, T do.

THE_COURT: Now I am going to review with you the
maximum possible penalties for the crimes in guestion.

Count One charging securities fraud carries a maximum
sentence of 20 vears' imprisonment, a maximum fine of the
greatest of $5 milliom, or twice the gross gain or twice the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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gross loss, a mandatory special assessment of £100, and a
maximum term of supervised release of three years.

Tn fact, each count carries a mandatory special
assessment of $100, so I am not going to repeat that for each
of the 11 counts.

Count Two charges investment advigser fraud. It
carries a maximum sentence of ﬁive vears' imprisonment, a
maximum fine of the greatest of $10,000, or twice the gross
gain or twice the gross loss, and a maximum texrm of supervised
releagse of three years.

Count Three, the mail fraud count, charges a maximum
sentence of 20 vears' imprisonment, a maximum fine of the
greatest of $250,000, or twice the gross gain or twice the
gross loss, and a maximum term of supervised release of three
Vvears.

In facr, all 11 counts carry the same maximum term of
supervigsed release of three years, so I won't repeat that
either.

T'm up to Count Four, the wire fraud count. That
carries a maximum Sentence of 20 vears' imprisonment, a maximumn
fine of the greatest of $250,000, or twice the gross galn or
twice the gross loss.

Count Five, the international money laundering count,
vthe first of those counts, carries a maximum sentence of 20

vears' imprisconment, a maximum fine of the greatest of

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPCORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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500,000, twice the value of the funds involved, or twice the
gross gain to any person or rwice the pecuniary loss to any
person other than yourself.

Count Six, thelsecond international money laundering
count, carries a mawimum sentence of 20 years' imprisonment. a
maximum fine of the greatest of $500,000, or twice the value of
the funds involved or twice the gross galn or rwice the
pecuniary loss.

Count Seven, a money laundering count, charges a
maximum sentence of ten years' imprisonment, a maximum fine of
rhe greatest of $250,000, or twice the gross galn or twice the
pecuniary loss.

Count Hight, which charges making false statements,
carries a maximum sentence of five years’ imprisonment, &
maximum fine of $250,000., or twice the gross gain or twice the
pecuniary 1oss.

Count Nine charges perjury. It carries a maximum
sentence of five years' imprisonment, a maximum fine of the
greatest of $250,000, or twice the gross gain or twice the
pecuniary loss.

Count Ten charges making a false filing with the SEC.
T+ carries a maximum sentence of 20 years' imprisonment, &
maximum fine of the greatest of $5 millicn, or twice the gross
gain or twice the pecuniary l1o08s.

Tinally, Count Eleven, which charges theft from an

SOUTHERN DLISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212 805-0300
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emplovee benefit plan, carries a maximum sentence of five
vears' imprisonment, a maximum fine of the greatest of
$250,000, or twice tha.gross gain or twice the pecuniary loss.

Do vou understand that those are the pessible maximum
sentences?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do.

THE COURT: MNow, taking all the counts together, do
vou understand that the total maximum sentence of incarceration
that vou face is 150 years' imprisonment?

THE DEFENDANT: I do.

THE COURT: In addition, do vou understand that as
part of vour sentence I can order restitution to any person or
entity injured as a result of vour criminal conduct?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

MR. LITT: Your Honor, I would just note that
restitution is mandatory, not discretionary.

THE COURT: I will order restitution if 1t's
mandatory.

You understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: I do.

THE COURT: I mentioned supervised release. By that I
mean that vou would be subject to monitoring when you were
released from prison under terms and conditions that could lead
re vreimprisonment without a +jury trial if yvou were Lo violate
them. And if you were to violate the terms of your supsrvised

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212} 805-0300
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release vou could be sent back to prison for the entire term of
vour supervised release.

Do vou understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: VYes.

THE COURT: Are vou & citizen of the United States?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, 1 am.

THE COURT: Do vou understand that as a result of your
cuilty plea you may lose certain valuable civil rights, such as
+the right to vote, the right to hold public office, the right
to serve on a jury, and the right Lo possess any kind of
firearm?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do.

THE COURT: Now, have vou talked to Mr. Sorkin about
rhe federal sentencing guldelinesg?

THE DEFENDANT: VYes, I have.

THE COURT: Do vou understand that the guidelines are
now advisory only and that they are no longer mandatory?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Nonetheless, before I can sentence you I
still have to determine what vour sentencing range is under the
guidelines. I can't do that until after the probation
department prepares a presentence report and vou, your lawyer,
and rhe government have had a chance to review the report and
ro make any cobjecticons.

Do vou understand that?

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, R.C.
{212) 8{5-~-0300
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THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
THE COURT: And even after I decide what your

guideline range is, I still have the authority in appropriate

circumstances to impose a sentence that is above or below the

guideline range,

Do yvou understand that?

THE DEFENDANT : I do.

THE COURT: Do you understand that parcle has been
abolished in the federal system and, thus, you would not be
released from prison any earlier on parole?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Do vou understand that 1if your attorneys
or anyone else has attempted to predict what vour sentence will
be that the prediction could be wrong?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: 2and that is because nc one, not your
attorney, not the goverament, can of should make any promises
o you as to what yvour sentence will be as your sentence cannot
be decided until afier the presentence report is completed, I
have ruled on any objections, and I have decided whethexr there
ig any baslis to go azbove or below the guideline range.

Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Finally, do yvou understand that even if
vour sentence turns out Lo be different from what vyour attorney

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPCRTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-0300
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or anyone =lse has told you it might be, or even if vour
sentence turns out to be different from what you expect, you
will still be bound to your guilty plea and vou will not be
allowed to withdraw vour plea of guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Do you understand that by bleading gullty
you may be giving up or walving certain aspects of your right
to appeal?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: The government provided your lawyers with
a letter, dated March 10, 2009, which we call a Pimentel
letter?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes,

THE COURT: Did you review that with your lawyers?

THE DEFENDAWT: 1 did.

THE COURT: aAnd that Pimentel letter explains that
vour guideline sentence is 150 years.

Do vou understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: I do.

THE CCURT: That's the government's calculation.

That 's the government's position and you and your lawyers will
have the opportunity to comment on that.

Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And do vou understand also that this

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{(212) 805-0300
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calculation that's set forth in the government's letter is not
binding on the Court?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Has anvone offered you any inducements or
threatened vou or forced vou to plead gullty?

THE DEFENDANT: No.

THE COURT: Mr. Sorkin, do vou know of any wvalid
defense that would prevail at trial, or do you know any reason
why your client should not be permitted to plead guilty?

ATEE DEFENDANT: I do not, vour Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Madoff, tell me what vou did.

MR. SORKIN: Your Honor, may I make one,
respectfully -- according tc the Pimentel letter, we agree that
while the maximum statutory penalty in terms of impriscnment is
150 years; the guideline range -~ and this can be found on page
6 of the Pimentel letter -- ig life imprisonment. The c¢riminal
history category I vields a sentencing range of life
imprisonment .

THE COURT: T understand. But the government goes on
further to take the Qosition that when a count does not permit
life, then vyou lock at the statutory maximum. That's the
government's position.

MR, SORKIN: I just want to make sure Mr. Madofl

understood that. Thank vou, your Honor .

3

THE COURT: Mr. Madoff, vou understand that?

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-03C0
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THE DEFENDANT: Yas, I do.

TH

25}

COURT: Technically, the guideline rangs is life,
ut none of the counts in question carries a sentence that can
go up to life. The top is 20 vears. According to the
government, in that clrcumstance then the guideline range is
rhe maximum and the government's position is that the guideline
range is 150 years. Again, T don't know whether Mr. Sorkin
agrees or disagrees, but we will deal with that befcore
sentencing.

ME. SORKIN: Thank you, your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Madoff, would you rell me what you
did, please.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, your Honor.

Your Honor, for many years up until my arrest on

December 11, 2008, I operated a Ponzi scheme through the

investment advisory side of my business, Bernard L. Madoff
Securities LLC, which was located here in Manhattan, New York,
at 885 Third Avenue. I am actually grateful for this
opportunity to publicly speak about my crimes, for which I am
so deeply sorry and ashamed. As I engaged in my fraud, I knew
what T was doing wrong, indeed criminal. When I began the
Ponzi scheme I believed it would end shortly and I would be
able to extricate myself and my clients from the schenme.
However, this proved difficult, and ultimately impoggible, and
as the vears went by I realized that my arrest and this day

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212} 805-0300
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would inevitably come. I am painfully aware that I have deeply
hurt many, many people, including the members of my family, my
closest friends, business associates, and the thousands of
clients who gave me their money. I cannot adequately express
how sorry I am for what I have done. I am here today to accept
responsibility for my crimes.by pleading guilty and, with this
plea allocution, explain the means by which I carried cut and
concealed my fraud.

The essence of my scheme was that I represented to
clients and prospective clients who wished to open investment
advisory and individual trading accounts with me that T would
invest their money in shares of common stock, options, and
other securities of large well-known corporations, and upon
request, would return to them their profits and principal.
Thogé representations were false for many years. Up until I
was arrested on December 11, 2008, I never invested these funds
in rhe securities, as I had promised. Instead, those funds
were deposited in a bank account at Chase Manhattan Bank. When
clients wished to receive the profits they believed they had
earned with me or to redeem their principal, I used the moﬁey
in the Chase Manhattan bank account that belonged to them or
other clients to pay the requested funds. The victims of my
srheme included individuals, charitrable crganizations, trusts,
pension funde, and hedge funds. Among other means, I obtained
their Funds through interstate wire transfers they sent from

SOUFIHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212 805-0300
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financial institutions located outside New York State to the
bank account of my investment adviscry business, located in
Manhattan, New York, and through mailings delivered by the
United States Postal Service and private interstate carriers to
my firm here in Manhattan.

I want to emphasize today that while my investment
advisory business, the vehicle of my wrongdoing, was part of my
firm, Bernard L. Madoff Securities, the other businesses my
firm engaged in, proprietary trading and market making, were

legitimate, profitable, and successful in all respects. Those

huginesses were managed by my Dbrother and two sons.

To the best of my reccllection, my fraud began in the
early 1990s. At that time, the country was in a recession and
thig posed a problem for investments in the securities markets.
Nevertheless, 1 had received investment commitments from
certain institutional clients and understood that those
clients, like all professicnal investors, expected to see thelr
investments out-perform the market. While I never promiged a
specific rate of return to my client, T felt compelled to
satisfy my clients® expectations, at any cost. I therefores
claimed that I employed an investment strategy I had developed,
called the split strike conversion strategy, to falsely give
the appearance to clients that I had achieved the results I
believed they expected.

Through the split strike conversion strategy I

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) B05-03G0
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promised to clients and prospective clients that client funds
would be investad in a basket of common stocks within the
Standard & Poors 100 index, a collection of the 100 largest
publicly-traded companies in terms of their market
capitalization. I promised that I would select a basket of
stocks that would closely mimic the price movements of the
Standard & Poors 100 indewx. I promised that I would
cpportunistically time those purchases and would be out of the
market intermittently, investing client funds during these
periods in United States Government-issued securities, such as
United States Treasury bills. In addition, I promised that as
part of the split strike conversion strategy, I would hedge the
investments I made in the basket of common stocks by using
client fﬁnds to buy and sell cption contracts related to those
stocks, thereby limiting potential client losses caused by
unpredictable changes in stock pricesg. In fact, I never made
those investments I promised clients, who believed they were
investad with me in the split strike conversion strategy.

To conceal my fraud, I misrepresented to cliients,

emploveas, and others that I purchased securities for clients

- in overseas markets. Indeed, when the United States Securities

and Exchange Commission asked me to testify as part of an
investigation they were conducting about my investment advisory
business, I knowingly gave false testimony under oath to the

gtaff of the SEC cn May 19, 2006 that I executed trades of

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 803-0300
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common stock on behalf of my investment advisory clients and
that T purchased and sold the equiries that were part of my
investment strategy in Europsan markets. In that session with
the SEC, which took place here in Manhattan, New York, I also
knowingly gave false testimony under cath that I had executed
options contracts on behalf of wmy inveastment advisory clients
and that my firm had custody of the assets managed on behalf of
my investment advisory clients.

To further cover up the fact that I had not executed
trades on behalf of ﬁy investmenﬁ advisory clients, I knowingly
caused false trading confirmations and client account
statements that reflected the bogus transactions and positions
to be created and sent to clients purpértedly involved in the
split strike conversion strategy, as well as other individuazl
clients 1 defrauded who believed they had invested in
securities through me. The clients recelving trade
confirmations and account statements had no way of kmowing by
reviewing theée documents that I had never engaged in
transaﬁtions represented on the statements and confirmations.

T knew those false statements and account statements would be
and were sent to clients through the U.S. Mails from my office
here in Manhattan.

Apnother way that I concealed my fraud was through the
£1ling of false and micleading certified annual reports and
financial statements -- excuse me. Another way that T

SQUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212} BU5-0300
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concealed my fraud was through the filing of false and
misleading certified audit reports and financial statements
with the SEC. T knew that these audit reports and financial
statements were false and that theyv would alsc be sent to
clients. These reports, which were prepared here in the
Southern District of New York, among other things, falsely
reflected my firm's liabilities as a result of my intentional
failure to purchase securities on behalf of my advisory
clients.

Similarly, when I recently caused my firm in 2006 to
register as an investment adviser with the S$EC, I subseguently
filed with the SEC a document called the form ADV uniform
application for investment adviser regigstraticon. On this form
I intentionally and falsely certified under penalty of perjury
that Bernard L. Madoff Investment Securities had custody of my
advisory clients' securities. That was not true, and I knew it
when 1 completed and filed the form with the SEC, which I did
from my office on the 17th floor of 885 Third Avenue, here in
Maﬁhattan.

In more recent vears, I used yet another method to
conceal my fraud. I wired money between the United States and
the United Kingdom to make it appear as though there were
actual securities transactions executed on behalf of my
investnent advisory clients. Specifically, I had money
transferred from the U.S. bank account of my investment

SCUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212} 80G5-0300
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advisory business to the London bank account of Madoff
Securities International Limited, a United Xingdom corporation
that was an affiliate of my business in New Yorlk. madoff
Securities Internmational Limited was.principally engaged in
proprietary trading and was a legitimate, honestly run and
operated business. Nevertheless, to support my false statement
that I purchased and sold securities for my investment advisory
clients in European markets, I caused money from the bank
account of my fraudulent advisory business, located here in
Manhattan, to be wire transferred to the London bank account of
Madoff Securities International Limited.

There were also times in recent years when I nad
money, which had originated in the New York Chase Manhattan
bank account of my investment advisory business, transferred
from the London bank account of Madoff Securities International
Limited to the Bank of New York operating bank account of my
firm's legitimate proprietary and market making business. That
Bank of New York account was located in New York. I did this
as a way of ensuring that the expenses associated with the
operation of the fraudulent investment advisory business would
not be paid from the operations of the legitimate propristary
trading and market making businesses.

Tn connection with the purported trades, I caused the
fraudulent investment advisory side of my businegs to charge
the investment advisory clients four cents per share as a

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212y B805-0300
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commigsion. Ab times in the last few vears, these commissions
were transferred from Chase Manhattan bank account of the
fraudulent investment advisory side of my firm to the account
at Bank of New York, which was the operating account for the
legitimate side of Bernard L. Madoff Investment Securities,.the
proprietary trading and market making side of my firm. T did
this to ensure that the expenses associated with the operation
of my fraudulent investment advisory business would not be paid
from the cperations of the legitimate proprietary trading and
market making business. It is my belief that the salaries and
honuses of the personnel involved in the operation of the
legitimate side of Bernard L. Madoff Invesgtment Securities were
funded by the operations of the firm's successful proprietary
crading and market making businesses.

Your Honor, I hope I have conveyed with some
particularity in my own words the crimes I committed and the
means by which I committed them. Thank you, your Honoxr.

THE COURT: Thank vou, Mr. Madoff.

Mr. Sorkin, I don't think there was mention of an
employes benefic plan.

ME. SORKIN: The pension fund was mentioned, your

Henor .

THE COURT: What page that?

MR. SOREKIN: T think it's page 2. If yvou lock at the
rop, the victim -- I'm quoting -- the victims of my scheme

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPCRTERS, P.C.
(212} 805-0300
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ineluded individuals, charitable organizations, trusts, pension
funds, and hedge funds.

THE COURT: I see.

and those pension funds include employes welfare
benefit plans?

MR. SORKIN: Yes, vour HOnor.

Is that correct?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Mr. Madoff, you can be seated for a
moment.

Does the government believe that Mr. Madoff's
admissions cover the elements of the crimes of each count?

MR, LITT: Yes, your Honor. The government does not
entirely agree with all of the defendant's description of his
conduct. However, the government does believe that his
allocution does cover each of the elements of the charged
offenses.

THE COURT: Would you summarize what the government's
evidence would be if the defendant were to go Lo trial?

MR, LITE: Yes.

#iad this case proceeded to trial, the government would
have proven through testimony and evidence beyond a reasonable
doubt all of the facts set forth in the criminal information.

Tn summary, the government would have proven the
following: The defendant operated a massive Ponzl scheme

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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through his company, Bernard L. Madoff Tnvestment Securities,
beginning at least as early as the 1980s.. Over the decades
working from his New York City office and elsewhere, Madoff
solicited and caused others to solicit prospective clients to
open accounts with his company. His clients included
individuals, charitable organizations, trustsg, pension funds,
and hedge funds, among others, and those clients were also his
victims.

Madoff told those clients that he would invest thelr
funds in publicly-traded securities, opticns, and treasury
bills. In fact, over the life of his scheme Madoff did not buy
stocks or options as he had promised. Instead, Madoff used
client funds to pay other clients who sought to redeem their
investments, and used so-called commission revenue generated by
charging clients four cents per share for shares that he never,
in fact, purchased to generate revenue for his firm. At times,
his firm would have been unable to operate but for the cash
generated from this Ponzi scheme. Madoff repeatedly lied to
clients in person, on telephone calls, and through mailings,
including account statements and confirmations of purchases and
sales of securities that he mailed through the U.S. Postal
Service.

Some . investors sent checks to Madoff through the
mails, others wired money to Madoff, and many of those wires

came from outside New York State into the Southern District of

SCUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-0300
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New York. Madoff also caused hundreds of millions of dollars
0f client funds Lo be wired overseas to accounts in London.
Some of that money was sent back to his £irm and used to pay
its expenses. Other money was sent back and forth between New
vork and London to give the false impression that he was
actually buying and selling securities in Buropean markets
when, in fact, he was not.

Madoff also used some of the money funneled through
London to support his lavish lifestyle. Madoff also used other
means of deception to hide his scheme. He lied when he told
clients that he was purchasing securities on their behalf.

He also lied to regulators, including the SEC. He
fiited false and fraﬁdulent certified financial statements with
the SEC that failed to disclose his fraud scheme, failled to
disclose his liabilities to the victims of his Ponzi scheme,
and contained false certifications that the audited statements
had been prepared in accordance with generally-accepted
auditing standards and principles.

Mr. Maééff lied in a form that he was reguired to file
with the SEC as an investment adviser, claiming that his
company had custody of client gsecurities when, in fact, he had
not purchased any securities for those clients.

He also lied at least seven separate times in an SEC
deposition in 2006.

nt the end, Madoff told his clients that he was

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, p.C.
(212) 805-0300
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2 clients. In fact, he had only a small fraction of that amount.
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THE COURT: Thank vou. Mr. Madoff, please stand.

When vou did the things vou told me you did in your
starement, did vou know that what vou were doing was wrong and
illegal?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I did, vour Honor.

THE COURT: How do you now plead to Count One of the
information, guilty cor not guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Gullty.

THE COURT: How do you now plead to Count Two of the
information, guiity or not guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty.

THE COURT: How do you now plead to Count Three,
guilty or not guilcy? |

THE DEFENDIZNT: Guilty.

THE COURT: How do vou now plead to Count Four, gullty
or not guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty.

THE COURT: How do yvou now plead to Count Five, gulity
or not guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty.

THE COURT: How do vou now plead to Count Six, guilty
or not guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty.

THE CCURT: How do.you now plead to Count Seven,
guilty or not guilty?

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805~0300
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THE DEFENDANT: Guilty.

THE COURT: How do yvou plead to Count Eight, guilty or
not guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty.

THE COURT: How do vou plead to Count Nine, guilty or
not guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty.

THE COURT: How do vou now plead to Count Ten, guilty
or not gullty?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilt

THE COURT: And finally, how do you now plead to Count
Eleven, guilty or not guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Guilty, your Honor.

THE COURT: Did you do the things that you are charged.
with doing in all 11 counts of the information?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I did, vour Honor.

THE COURT: And are vou pleading guilty becauss you
are guilty?

TH

=

DEFENDANT : Yes, 1 am.

THE COURT: Are you pleading guilty voluntarily and of
vour own free will?

THE DEFENDANT: Yeg, 1 am.

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Madoff, vou may be seated.

mased on what I have heard, T am inclined to accept
Mr. Madoff's guilty nlea.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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as I stared the other day, the government received a
number of e-mails from victims objecting to ény plea bargain ov
any plea deal. As it is clear that there is no plea bargain or
plea deal, there is no basis for these objections. At this
time, nonetheless, if there is any victim who signed our
sign-in sheet who wishes to be heard on the guestion of whethar
T should accepﬁ Mr. Madoff's guilty plea, you can have a chance
vo speak now. We have a list.

Mr. Nierernberg, do you want to speak?

MR. NIERENBERG: Yes.

THE COURT: 211 right, sir. Come to the microphone.
and remember that today is not the sentencing. Victims will
havé a chance to speak at sentencing. Go ahsad.

MR. NIERENBERG: I am one of the many victims of
Madoff's egregious crimes. I don't know whether veou had a
chanca to turn arcund and look at the victims --

THE COURT: Mr. Nierenberg, Mr. Nierenberg --

MR. NIERENBERG: I just wanted to --

THE COURT: Remain at the podium, plsase.

MR . NIERENBERG: All right. I kaow that the
operation -- Madoff's operation was massive, that he didn't
commit these crimes alone, and I don't understand why
conspiracy is not a part of one of his pleas. Just to produce
the reams of documents that were received and the elaborate

dara that went intce them must have recuired an army of people

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212}y 805-~0300
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to produce. And we all know that Madoff wasn't éround a lot at
his operation. There were other people that were there who
handled it when he was gone. I --

THE COURT: I gather your point is that I should
reject the plea because the government has not charged
conspiracy?

MR. NIERENBERG: No. The guesticn is -~ I'm not
suggesting that you reject the plea. What I'm suggesting is
that there's an additional crime that was committed that wasn’'t
included in the plea that needs to be considered.

THE COURT: All right. What I want to hear from now
are victims who object to my accepting the plea.

MR. NIERENBERG: Okay.

THE COURT: Do vou obiject to my accepting the plea?

MR. NIERENBERG: No, I don't.

THE COURT: Well, thank vou, then., You can have your
seat. |

MR. NIERENBERG: Okay.

THE COURT: Mark Labianca? No.

Brian Feléen? My . Felsen, do vou want to be heard?

MR, FELSEN: I would like to be heard, but I do not
obiject to the plea.

THE COURT: All right. If vou want to be heard with
respect to sentencing, we will make sure we have procedures to
give victims an opportunity te be heard at sentencing.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPCRTERS, P.C.
{212} 805-0300




Case 2:09-cv-00816-SRC-MCA Document 42-8 Filed 03/12/10 Page 40 of 116

39
S3CEMADPZ

i MR. FELSEN: Okay.

2 THE COURT: 211 right. Thank vou.

3 Bennett Goldwait? I can't guite read the handwriting.
4 MR . GOLDWORTH: Goldworth. No thank you.

5 THE COURT: Ronnis Sue and Dominic Ambrosine, do you

& wish to be heard?

7 MS. AMBROSINC: VYes, I do.

8 THE COURT: All right. Come forward, please. And say
a vour name again when you get to the microphone.

10 MS. AMBROSINO: My name is Romnie Sue Ambrosino, and I
il would obiject to the plea -- T Jjust need to £ind a spot. T have
12 raken a lot of notes. Judge, I believe that you have the

13 opportunity today to find out information as to where the money
14 g and to find out who else may be involved in this crime. And
15 if that plea is accepted without those two pieces of

16 information, then I do object. If you can ascertain thab vyou
17 can get those two pieces of information, I would love to see

18 this man, who admits that he lied under cath in May of 2006 and
1e sat hers and took an oath today -~ I would like to see him
20 guilty.
21 THE COURT: All right. Thank you.
22 MS. AMBROSINGO: Thank you, sir.

23 THE COURT: Maureen Aebel? Go ahead.

D4 M&. AFREL: Judge Chin, I would like to present you

25 with a Gifferent scenaric that our country could witness if vou

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212} 805-0300
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reject Mr. Madoff's plea. if we go to trial, we will show our
pecple in this struggling country and the world, who looks to
us as the global moral leader, that we hold all people
acocountable. If we go to trial, we can show all our world that
all crimes, all crimes, including crimes of greed, can be
dissected, ruled upon, and punished. 2and we can demonstrate
that we are a country that can learn from our mistakes, and we
will be then able to reexamine and improve the mechanisms that
axist for our protecdtion that have failed so completely. If we
go to trial, we have more of a chance to comprehend the global
scope of this horrendous crime. At trial we ¢an hear and bear
witness to the pain that Mr. Madoff has inflicted on the voung,
the old, and the infirmed. No man, no matter who he knows or
whé he ig able to influence, is above the law. Thank you,
Judge Chin.

THE COURT: Thank vou. All right. That is it with
respect to the victims who signed up on the acceptance of the
plea. Does the government or the defense want to respond to
anvthing? Does the government want to respond to anything?

MR. LITT: May T just have a moment?

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. LITT: I think the only thing the government would
say is that the government's investigation continues. It is
continuing. A lot of resources and effort are being expended,
both to find assets and to find anyone else who may be

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-0300
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responsible for this fraud.

THE COURT: Thank vou. Mr. Sorkin?

MR. SORKIN: Nothing at this time, your Honor. Thank
YO .

TﬁE COURT: First of all, I appréciate the comments
from the victimes. With respect to Ms. Ambrosino's comments
ahout where the money is, as the government has Jjust said, it
ig continuing its investigation, and this guilty plea certainly
does not preclude the government from proceeding.

With respect to Ms. Acbel's comment about how a trial
would show the world that ﬁe hold.all people accountable, I
helieve that these proceedings will do the same thing.

M. Madéff, please stand. I am accepting the plea.
Mr. Madoff, because you acknowledge that you are guilty as
charged in Counts One through Eleven of the information,
because vou know your rights and are waiving them, because your
plea is entered knowingly and veoluntarily and ig supported by
an independent basis in fact for each of the elements of the 11
offenses, I accept vour guilty plea and adjudge you guilty on
Counts One through Eleven of the information. You can be
seated.

Mr. Madoff, the probation department will prepare =
presentence report to assist me in sentencing you. You will be
interviewed by the probation department, and it is important
that you give the probation officer truthful and accurate

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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information, for the report is important in my decision as to
what your sentence will be. You and your attorney have a right
and will have an opporrunity to review the report, to challenge
or comment upon it and to speak on your behalf before
sentencing.

Sentencing is set for June 16th at 1:30 p.m.

Turning to bail, is the government requesting that T
ramand Mr. Madeoff pending sentencing?

MR. LITT: Yes. The government moves for remand at
this time pursuant to 18 USC 3142, which puts the buxden on the
defendant to show by clear and convincing evidence that he can
be trusted to appear for future court appearances.

The defendant has now pled guilty and been found
gquilty of 11 -- or does the Court wish to hear argument now
QL --

THE COURT: Well, let me ask Mr. Sorkin whether he
opposes reamand.

MR. SORKIN: We do, your Honor, and I'd like to be
heard on that point.

THE COURT: Let me hear from Mr. Sorkin.

MR. SORKIN: Thank you, your Honor. May I go to the
podium, vyour Heonor?

THE COURT: Yes, whersver you would like.

MR. SORKIN: Thank vou. Thank you, your Honor. Your
Honor, let me take just a little bit of while, Dbecause [ want

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-0300
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ro review the history of the bail as it related to this case.

THE COURT: Yes. The government provided me with the
transcripts and the letter briefs, and.I‘ve reviewsd them too.

MR. SORKIN: I'm not going to go through every one of
rhem, but I think it's important that I iist the chronology and
how we got to this point today.

THE COURT: That's fine. That's fine.

MR . SORKIN: Your Honor, this case started when
Mr. Madoff on December 10th confessed his wrongdoing to his two
song, knowing full well that his two sons were going to turn
him in. He didn't run. He didn't attempt to flee at that
time. When he was arrested by the FBI the next morning, he
confessed to the FBL.

He appeared on December 11lth before Magistrate Judge
Faton, and a personal recognizance bond of ten million dollars
was signed by Mr. Madoff and his wife. There were three
additional cosigners that were reguired, and it was secured by

Mr. Madoff's residence in Manhattan. gurrender of Mr. Madcoif's

rravel documents took place, and his travel was restricted to

the Southern and Eastern Districts of New York and the Digtrict
of Connecticut.

The Pretrial Services at the time, your Honor, did not
recommend in its initial recommendation that Mr. Madoff be
remanded, and I add additionally that the government had no
difference and no objection with any of the conditions that

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, F.C.
(212} 805-0300
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were imposed on December 1llth. That was before Magistrate
Judge Eaton.
On December 17th, vour Honor, before anothér
magistrate judge, Magistrate Judge Gorenstein, Mr. Madoif --
and it was ratcheted up -~ was placed on home detention in hisg

apartment with electronic ankle bracelet monitoring. He was
permitted to travel only to his attorney's offices and to the
court. & curfew of 7:00 p.m. through 9:00 a.m. was imposed,
and this was done in addition to the entry of confession of
‘udgments with respect Lo his wife's properties on Montauk, New
vork, and Palm Beach, Florida, a surrender of Mrs. Madoff's
passpoft and a reduction of the number of cosigners on the bond
from four to two. This, too, your Honor, was consented to by
the government. Indeed, T believe it was done by stipulation
without argument bhefore Magistrate Judge Gorenstain.

On Decemper 19th, again, on consent of the government,
a ten million dollar personal recognizance bond was gigned by
My. Madoff, his wife, and his brother, secured by confessions
of judgment on his wife’'s properties in Montauk, in New York,
and Palm Beach. The passports of both Mrs. Madoff had air@ady
heenn surrendered, and other than scheduled court appearances,
Mr. Madoff was confined to his home 24 hours a day. He was no
longer permitted to visit his counsel. And they had, in
addition to the 24-houvr-a-day confin@ﬁent, an electronic

monitoring device, which is still attached to his ankle.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, F.C.
{212) 805-0300
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At his wife's own expense --

THE COURT: Would the audience please remain gulet.

Go ahead.

MR. SORXKIN: Because Mr, Madoff's assets were all
frozen, but his wife's were not, although she later voluntarily
committed to a freeze of her assets under certain r@striqtions.
30 with the government's consent, Mrs. Madoff's own assels,
which were not frozen by Judge Stanton or any judge in this
court -- she agreed to pay a security firm acceptable to the
government to provide the following gervices Lo preavent harm oOr
flight.

2nd with these unfrozen assets, not objected to by the
government, Mr. Madeff has round-the~clock monitoring at his
building 24 hours a day, including video monitoring of all of
his apartment, doors, communications devices, and services
permitting security to send a direct signal from an observation
post to the FBI in the event of even.the suspicion of harm or
flight. This is known as a panic button. There are additional

quards available on reguest, if necessary, Lo prevent flight or

harm, both inflicted by Mr. Madoff -- I'm dealing with the
danger to the community issue ~- and also harm to Mr. Madoff.
On January 12th, your Honor -- and again, this was Ty

consent of the government. On January 12th, Maglstrate Judge
Ronald Fllis imposed additionel restrictions. This was
briefed, as vour Honor well knows. It was argued by Magistrate

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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Judge Ellis. And on that date, Magistrate Judge Ellis
incorporated the restrictions set forth in the order of Judge
Stanton, who has jurisdiction over the SEC matter, including
regtrictions on the transfer of éll property whatsocever
wherever located in the possession or under the contrel of

Mr. Madeff. aAnd that was part of the SEC consent under the TRO
and also the consent under the preliminary injunction, which

Mr. Madoff consented to. Magistrate Judge Ellis incorporated

‘these restrictions to a voluntary restralnt agresment, which

the government agreed to, involving Mrs. Madoff's assets and
restricted the transfer of all assets owned by her voluntarily,
your Honor.

additionally, Magistrate Judge Ellisg directed the
compilation of an inventory of all wvaluable portable items in
the Manhattan home, which is to be cheacked once every two weeks
by government-approved security, who are also requived to
inspect all outgoing mail.

The government appealed Magistrate Judge Ellis’
ruling, and before District Judge Lawrence McKenna on January
16th, 2009, argument was held. The matter was briefed, and
Judge McKenna added additional comditions: One, a compilation
of any inventory of all wvaluable portable items in the homes in
Montauk, Palm Beach, as well as any property owned by
Mrs. Madoff in a small residence in France.

I quote, which vour Honor, I'm sure, has read, from

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) B05-0300
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Judge McKenna's statement in court after hearing argument and
seeing papers, that, qﬁote ~= and thisg is from Judge McKenna --
T think the chances of Mr. Madoff fleeing at this point are as
close to nil as yvou can get in any bail package, period,
unguote.

Now, nothing has changed, your Honor, and I agree it
has changed substantially in terms of the plea. and I agree
with Mr. Litt that the burden is upon us to show by clear and
convincing evidence that Mr. Madoff is neither a flight risk
nor a risk to the community.

ne far as we are awares, vour Honor, Pretrial Services
has not found that Mr. Madoff has been negligent or careless in
complying with all of the pail conditions. There has been no
incident at aii, as far as we are aware, that has been conveyed
to us by Pretrial or the government that Mr. Madoff has
attempted at any time to flee or certainly, which the
government conceded before Magistrate Judge Ellis and Judge
McKenna, posed any risk of harm. The argument before Judgse
Ellis and Judge McKenna was the risk of harm was in the
financial world, that he would dissipate assets. That was
raken care of, your Honor, respectfully, by Magistrate Judge
Ellis and by Judge McKenna. All mail going out, all packages
going out are inspected by the security firm approved by the
government.

T respectfully submit, your Honor, that the change has

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-0300
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been the media attention and the increased and, in many cases,
dustifiable anger by people who claim they lost money, but the
Bail Reform Act doesn't deal with those two issues. 1 do not
believe, your Honor, that the precedent set in this court where
such individuals as Rigas in the Adelphia case, Ebbers in the
WorldCom case, Messrs. Skilling and Lay -- Mr. Lay passéd away
before sentencing -- all of whom were facing substantial years
in prison, Rigas and Ebbers in this court, Mr. Skilling in
Texas. All were released on bail pending sentence. All went
to trial but did not plead guilty, and all, your Honor, as far
as I am aware, never once confessed at the get-go to the
wrongdoing that vou heard Mr. Madoff confess to today.

8o I would respectfully submit, your Honor, that there
is no chance that Mr. Madoff will certainly be a risk to the
community, a danger to the community. 2nd his risk of
fiight -- and I agree with Judge McKenna -- is virtually nil
with all of the restrictions that have been imposed on him. So
I respectfully reguest that his bail be continued.

T would zlso add, yvour Honor -- again, I refer to the
Bail Reform Act as not being relevant on those two other
issues. What is also relevant, vour Honor, is that Mr. Madoff
is going to have the opportunity, I am sure, if the government
and the defense can come to some agreement, Lo review literally
rhousands of thousands of documents which the trustee and the

government have heen reviewing to discover where this

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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o 1 forfeiture number comes from. And we've been able to
P communicate with him in_his apartment, and I think that is a
3 factor that yvour Honor should consider, even though that is not
4 my argument with respect to the Bail Reform Act. I think we
5 have met all the conditions under the act.
o S0 by clear and convincing evidence, I don't think he
7 is a risk of either danger to the community, flight, and I
8 would respectfully reguest that his bail be continued. Thank
9 you, your Honor.
10 THE COURT: I don't need to hear from the government.
11 It is my intention to remand Mr. Madoff.
12 Please, ladies and gentlemen, please.
(ﬁ_ 13 Now, I have a number of people who signed in who
14 wanted o be heard on the issue of bail, and I think vyou should
15 only be heard if vou object to remand.
16 adriane Biondo? Mr. Ross? Helen Chaitman?
17 MS. CHAITMAN: No obiection.
18 THE COURT: Donald Schupak?
13 ME. SCEUPAK: I do not object.
20 THE COURT: Mark Labianca?
21 MR. LABIANCA: I do not cbject.
22 THE COURT: Sharon Lissauer?
23 as Mr. Madoff has pled gullty, he is no longer
24 entitled to the presumption of innocence. The exposure is
{“. 25 great, 150 vears in prison. 1In light of Mr. Madoff's age, he

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) B8O5-0300
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has an incentive to flee, he has the means to flee, and thus,
he presents a risk of flight. Baii ig revoked, and the
defendant is remanded.

MR. SORKIN: Your Honor, would your Honor ceasider,
respecffully, a stay so that we might appeal vour Honor's ball
decigion? We intend to do it expeditiocusly.

THE COURT: The request for a stay is denied.

MR, SORKIN: Thank vyou.

THE COURT: Sentencing, as I said, is set for Juns
16th, 1:30 p.m. Some of the victims may wonder why do we need
35 much time. Well, the propation department has te prepare a
presentence report. By law, the defendant is entitled to 35
days to review the presentence report before sentencing. We
also have to give the parties an opportunity to submit written
materials.

Mr. Madoff, I will see you at sentencing. We are
adijocurned.

alo

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, p.C.
{212) 805-0300
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

____________________________ -
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
V. 0% CR 213 {ﬁc)
BERNARD L. MADOFF,
Defandant.
______________________________ %

New York, N.Y.
June 29, 2005
10:00 a.m,

Before:
HON. DENNY CHIN,

District Judge

APPEARANCES

LEV I.. DASSIN
Acting United States Attormey for the
Southern District of New York

MARC O. LITT

LIS2 A. BARONI

BARBARA A. WARD
hagistant United States Attorneys

DICKSTEIN SHAPIRO LLP
Attorneys for Defendant

IRA LEE SORKIN

DANTEL J. HORWITZ

MAURO M. WOLFE

NICOLE P. DE BELLO

ALSO PRESHENT: XEITH D. KELLY, FBEI
JULIA SCHULTE HANISH, USDOJ, FBI

QOUTEERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.O.
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(In open court)

(Cage called}

THE COURT: Please be seated. Good morning.  Mr.
Madoff, would you please stand.

Mr. Madoff, yvou pled guilty on March 12th, 2008 to 11

counts of gsecurities fraud, investment advisor fraud, wire and

mail fraud, money laundering, making false statements, psrijury,
filing false documents with the SEC and theft from employes |
benefit funds VYou are hers this mérning to bs sentenced for
thoge orimes.

Have you reviewed the presentence report?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I have, vyour Honor .

THE COURT: Did you discuss it with your lawyers?

THE DEFENDANT: I have.

THE COURT: Mr. Sorkin, have you reviewed the
presentence veport and discussed 1t with your client?

MR. SORKIN: Yes, your Honor, we have.

THE COURT: Do vou or your client have any objections
to the factual recitations or the guidelines calculation?

MR. SORKIN: We do not, your Honor,

THE COURT: Thank yvou. You can be seated.

Ms. Baroni, does the government have any objections to
the presenteﬁce report?

M3. BARQONT: No, vour Honor.

THE COURT: Thank vyol.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212} B95-0300
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I accept and adopt the factual recitations set forth
ir. the presentence report. I accept and adopt the guidelines
calculation set forth in the presentence report with one
clarification which I will discuss in a moment.

The total offense lewvel ig 52, the criminal history
category is E.l The PSR concludes that the guldeline rangse is
liferimprisonment‘ That is not quite accurate, however,
because the guidelines range canmnot be 1ife imprisonment asg no
count carries the possibility of a life sentence. Rather the
most serious counts carry a maximum of 20 years' imprisonment.

1 look then to Section 561.2{d) of the guidelines,
which tells us that where there are multiple counts, and the
guideline range excesds the statutory maximum for the most
sarious count, th@.court must impose congecutive terms of
iﬁprisonmamt to the extent necessary to achieve the.total
punishment.

There ig a little bit of ambiguity, however, as to
what is meant by "total punishment' where the guideline
caloulation calls for 1ife imprisonment, but Second Circuit
mage law makes clear that in such a gituation, the district
court ig to stack or add up the maximum sentences for all the
counts,

In United States v. Evans, for example, 352 F.3d 65,
where the guideline calculation called for life imprisonment
but no count carried a life sentence, the court held that the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTHERS, ».C.
{212) 805-0300
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guideline range is 240 years, the maximum sentences for all the
counts added together.:

Accordingly, here the guideline range is not life
imprisonment, but 150 years, the maximum sentences for each of
the 11 counts added together. Of course, in light of Booker
and the case law that followed, the guideline range is advisory
only. While I must give the guideline range fair and
regpectful consideration, I am not bound by it. In fact, the
Probation Department recommends a sentence of 50 years.

Instead I muet make an individualized assessment bésed on all
the facts and circumstances, including the factors set forth in
the statute, In the end, I must impose a sentence that is
reagonable.

We will proceed as follows:

First we will hear from the wvictime. Then Mr. Sorkin
will speak on behalf of Mr. Madoff. Next Mr. Madoff wmay speak
if he wighes. Finally, I will hear from the government.

virst the victims. I have received several hundred
written statements from victims including the e-mails and
letterg submitted back in March., Bvery victim who made a
timely reguest to speak will be permitted to speak today eicegt
in two instances. Two members of the gsame family asked to
speak, and we will permit one person to speak on behalf of the
family. Two victims have now withdrawn their reguest.
accordingly, we will hear from ¢ victims today.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{(212) 805-0300
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First we will hear from Mr. and Mrs. Ambrosino. The
ambrosines can step up to the microphone. Go ahead.
Mr. Ambrosino, go ahead. Come up to the microphone SO everyonus
can hear you.

ME. AMBROSINO: Thank you, your Honor. 'My_name is
Dominic Ambrosino and my --

THE COURT: Sir, just keep vour voice up.

MR. AMBROSINO: I thank the court for allowing me to
speak today. As a retired New York.city Correction Cfficer, I
am very familiar with the inside of a courtroém. However, I
never in my wildest drveams ever expected to be sitting in one
as a victim of an indescribably heinous crime --

THE COURT: Mr. Ambrosine, slow down a touch so our
Court Reporter can transcribe what you're saying.

ME. AMBROSING: That dream came true on March 12th as

T watched Bernie Madoff stand and be cuffed. However, the

' dream really started as a nightmare on December 1lth. I can

remember the sxact second my wife told me the news. I
immediately knew all the ramifications, but I don't think she
did. The fallout from having your entire life savings drop
right out from under your nose is truly like nothing you can
ever descaribe. At first it was the obvious, and how will we
pay our bills? How can someocne do this to us?

We worked-honestly and we worked so hard., This can't
he real. We did nothing wrong.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERE, P.C.
{(212) B05-0300
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T don't know if anvone other than another victim can
explain what the less obvious effects are, how every decision
directly and indirectly hinged on the fact that we had the
security of our s=avings. When I was able to leave the job, we
bought a motor home to travel the country. We took out a
mortgage gince it was better to keep our savings in Madeff. We
sold the house my wife lived in for 27 vears and also put all
those profits -- and they were high -- into our Madoff account.
Wa trusted that the savings and planning would see us through
cur retirement.

We had ideas of twaveling the country. It all stopped
abruptly on December 1lth. As a result, we are left with no
permanent house, a depreéiating'motcr home, we are upside down
on the loan and an income from my pensicon that is our life.
This pension ussed to be perceived as spending money before
Decerber 11th, and now although it doesn‘t cover our monthly
expenses, we rely on it fully. It is all we have.

T sustained a 52 percent hearing loss on my Job, and
at 49 years' old I can't go back to my previous caresr so I

have taken on a job this summer in Arirzona as an construction

project coordinator. The job will only last until August.

‘Then I don't know what I am goilng to do.

My wife's foot was run over by a van while in New York
¢ity. There was a plea hearing in March. She had a jcb lined
up before the trip. The expenses of the trip were given to us

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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and we had to let it go since she was in a cast for eight
weeks. She is now rehabilitating and still feels pain when she
stands for long pericds of time.

With that-background ags to who I am, I would like to
ghare some of the specific problems Madoff's crime brought to
us. My pension distribution, & one-time decision, and our
Lhealth ingurance plan, alsc one-time decision, were based on
the fact that we had =zavings and security with Madoff. If I
should die, my wife is left without my income or health
insurance.

We sold our ﬁome in New York with the expectation that
someday we would have the finances to purchase another one. We
have no credit now and can't get a mortgage. We have been
forced to take care of people's homes while they are traveling
for the summer, as we ussd to do prior to December 1ith.

We have through the generosity of friends been able to
stay rent free on the RV lots of pesople in the community. This
will come to a screeching halt in October when the owners
return for the winter season. We don't know where we'll go at
that time. We don't have enough income from my pansion to pay
monthly rent.

The most devastating to us is we lost our freedom. We
lost the ability to share our life every day as we explore the
country every day. We lost the time to hold hands ag we
walked. "As they gay in the gommercial, thig is priceless.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) B05-03200
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In clqsing, I would like to say, Judge Chin,
gentencing Bernard L. Madeff to the fullest extent will
certainly not eliminate any of the issues I wrote about. It
probably won't even gain me satisfaction. As the guard who
used to be on the right side of the prison bars, I'll know what
Mr. Madoff's experience will be and will know that he is in
prison in much the same wﬁy he imprisconed us as well as others.

He took from us the fresdom that we held so precicusly
close to ocur lives, the very thing I always valued and never
took for granted. In a2 sense, I would like somsome in the
court today to tell me how long is my sentence.

Thank you very much.

THE COURT: Thank yvou. Next we'll hear from Mr, aﬁd
Mrs. FitzMaurice.

| MS. EREL: No, Judge Chin. I am next.

THE COURT: I saw the gentleman standing up next and I
thought -- you are Maureen Ebel?

M&. EBEL: Yes, I am. I am here with may brother,
William Thomas McDonough.

THE COURT: All right.

M%. EBEL: My name i1z Maureen Ebel and I am a victim
of Bernard L. Madoff.

T have losgt all of wmy life's hard-earned savings. I
have lost my life savings because our government has failed me
and thousands and thousands of other citizens. There are many

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.O.
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levels of government complicity in this crime. The Securities
& Exchange Commission, by its total incompetence and criminal
negligence, has allowed a psychopath to steal from me and ateal
from the world.

T am a 6i-year-old widow and I am now working full
time. I have done many things to survive since December 11th,
including selling a lot of my possessions and working three
jobs at the same time, I have lost a home that wmy husband and
1 had owned for 25 vears because of this theft.

T have lost my ability to carve for myself in my oLld
age. I have lost the ability to donate to charity, especizlly
the Leukemia & Lymphoma Society. I have lost my abiliﬁy to
donate my time working for that charity as I had done in the
past because now I must workx full time in ordef to esab.

T have lost the ability to help future generations of
my family get an education. I have lost the ability to help
them with their housing needs. It pains my so much to remember
my husband getting up in the middle of the night. He was a
very fine physician. He would get up in the middie of the
night vear after year in all kinds of weather to go to the
hospital ro save someone's Life in rain, ice and snow.

He would save someone's life so that Bermie Madoff
could buy his wife another party rock. I have loszt the ability
to move arcund the world fresly at this stage in my life using
the money wy husband and I have worked so hard to earn. We had

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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worked, saved and planned for our old age so that we could
leave something behind and not be a burden when we became sick
and old.

The emotiohal toll that this has taken on me has been
devastating. I have had great pain and suffering at the hands
of Bernie Madoff, My health deteriorated rapidly after
Qecember 11th. T could not eat or gleep. I was very agitated
and hyperactive. I had all the signs and symptoms of someons
undergoing great stress. I suffered rapid weight losg, rapid
heart rate, sweating, insomnia and sometimes spells.

T had the horrible feeling that I had been pushed into
the great black abyss, but I could not indulge thesge paralyzing
Feelings too long. I had work to Go. Whil@ experiencing all
these symptoms, I had to sell my home of 25 years, aell may
car, sell may possessions and go to work full time. I accaeptad
gifts of money from family and friends to pay fer heat,
elactricity, gascline and food.

I was the recipient of so many kindnesses and saw so
much goodness in people. Goodness in people is something that
you, Mr. Madoff, have been blind to your whole 1ife,_and chat
goodness ig better than all the yachts and all the French homes
in all the world put together.

sadly, Mr. Madoff not only defrauded thousands of
investors, he mastered the art of manipulating our government.
FINRA and the Securities & Exchange Commission becams his

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, F.C.
{212} 805~0300
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toolg. They were willing to relax all regulations that would
have uncovered hisg fraud. The justification for relaxing the
regulations was to ease the purden on Wall Street firms, the
very firm that bankrupted the world economy.

THE COURT: Ms. Ebel, this is not the cime to
ariticize the agencies. That is not before me. What is befcre
me is what sentence to impose, so if you would address that,
please.

Mg . EREL: I will, Judge Chin.

Mr. Madoff, I have read yvou will be making a statemesnt
about your guilt and shame. I do not believe you. Judge Chin,
Mr. Madoff should stay in 4ail until every person who enabled
him to cause such a massive devastation is brought to justice.
He should stay in jail until the families of every one of his
wictime are able to restore their financial stability. That
could easily take 150 years. Thank you.

THE COURT: Thank you. Next we'll hear from Mr. and
Mrs. FitzMaurice.

ME. FPITZMAURICE: Thank you, Jﬁdge Chin, for allowing
us to be heard in your courtroom today.

My wife and I here are today representing the
thousands of Madoff victims. We have all suffered extensively
as @ result of his actions. It has been ﬁell chronicled that
Madoff did not limit his treaéhery to a few. He stole from the
rich, he stole from the poeor and he stole from the in-between.

BOUTHERM DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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He had no boundaries. He stole from individuals as well as
charitable organizations of all types and denominations.

My wife and I are not millionaires. He hag taken oux
entire life savings. We have not besen overlooked just as many
of his other wvictims. We have worked hard, long and hard for
all of ocur lives to provide for cur family and to be in a
position o retire someday. I am now forced te work three
iobs. My wife is working a full-time job only to make ands
meat, to allow us to pay our mortgage and put food on the
takle.

We are €3 years'® old. It will be no retirement for us
in the next two or three years. There will be no trips to
California to visit our @ne—yeér—old grandson. There will be
no vacations of any type. ‘Again we are too old to recoup the
monieg that he has taken from us. We can only work as long as
our health will hold up and then we will have to s=ell our.home
and hope to survive on social security alone.

Madeoff has shown no remorse. Please do not confuse
his preparsd statement as remorse. His crime was premseditated
and caloculated. He was att@mpting to scam investors only days
before his arrest. If he had the opportunity, he would still
be stealing from innocent investors. He hag notltruly
cooperated with the authorities to recover the money that
rightfully belongs to his investors, whom we are now known as
vichims.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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He cheated his victims out of their money so that he
and his wife Ruth and their two sons could live a life of
luxury bevond belief. This life is normally reserved for
royalty, not for common thieves.

Your Honor, we implore vou to give him the maximum
sentence at a maximum prison for this evil lowlife. This would
be true justice. Minimum sécuxity prigon would only allow
Madoff too many freedoms that he does not deserve. He would be
leading a life bettef than a lot of hig vietims. That ig not
true justice. His was a violent crime without the use of a
rangible weapon.

His attorney will argue for a lenient sentence of up
to twelve years. That is both insulting and another example of
Madoff's arrogance. The scope of the devastation he has
wreaked is unparalieled. It is impossible to compare his crime
te any past criminal act. The pain he has inflicted will
continue for many years. My life will never be the same. I am
financially ruined and will worry every day about how I will
rake cars of my wife.

Where will we be able ﬁo live? How will we pay our
»ills? How will we get medical insurance?

211 of his victimg worldwide will be walting to see
that true justice is served. True justice is a maximum
centence in & maximum security prison. I have a guotation from
my wife, since only one of us could speak. She wants to say:

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 8C05-0300
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"I cry every day when I see the look of pain and
despair in my husband's eyes. I cxry for the life we once had
before that monster tocok it away. Our twe sons and
daughter-in-law have rallied with constant love an& support.
You, on the other hand, Mr. Madoff, have two sons that despise
you. Your wife, rightfully so, has been vilified and shunned

by her friends in the community. You have left your children

M)

legacy of shame. I have a marriage made in heaven. You have a
marriage made in hell, and that is where you, Mr. Madoff, ars
going to return. May God spare you no mercy."

THE COURT: Thank you.

Next we will hear from Carla Hirschhorn.

M&., HIRSCHHORN: GCood morning and thank you, your
Honor, for allowing me to address you.

My husband and I write to you to explain the
devastation caused by Bernard L. Madoff to our lives. Since
1992 we were ilnvested with Bernard L. Madeff Investment
Securities. We have never been rich people. We have worked
throughout all our adult lives. Over the years my husband has
worked hard to learn a trads as a glazer which afforded him the
opportunity to start a small business. I have been s physical
therapist and worked through to the day I was graduated from
college in 1980. We have boﬁh diligently saved cur hard-earned
money to invest with Bernard Mad@ff over the years. We used
our money to raige our children, purchase our home and put our

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, 2.C.
{212} 805-0300




Case 2:09-cv-00816-SRC-MCA Document 42-8  Filed 03/12/10 Page 67 of 116

10

11

13

14

15

16

17

i8

19

20

21

22

24

25

15

96TIMADE Sentence

savings in Bernard Madoff Securities.

On December 1ith, 2008, oux world crumbled beneath us
as news of the Bernard Madoff ponzi scheme became public. This
turn of events hags been devastating to cur family. We lost our
entire 1life savings. This money was being used to provide our
children with a college education they have worked so nard to
deserve and to provide us with savings for a secure retirement.

Since Pecember 1lth, 2008 1life has been a living hell.
Tt feels like a nightmare that we can't wake from. I am so
tﬁankful that wmy father died two years ago and was gparad from
having to live in his terminal condition without the money to
provide him 24/7 health care which allowed him to die with
indignity.

My father died and left my mother believing she would
be able to live a safe and secure life with the money in her
Bernard Madoff accounts. Now all she has to live on is a
sparce social security check and a small pension which will
imst less than one vear. She may not have enough money to
mzintain her home and livimng expenses.

It ig our hope and in our prayers she does not become

i1l and reguire extraordinary means to sustain her. Our

' daughter who site in this courtroom today to witness this

horrific event is a junior at college and hasg worked two jobe
since our Madoff accounts wers stolen while going to school
full time. The stress and worry about her family's financial

SOUTHERN DISTRICT RE?ORTERS, P.C.
(212} 8U5~-0300




Case 2:09-cv-00816-SRC-MCA Document 42-8 Filed 03/12/10 Page 68 of 116

10

11

1z

13

14

15

17

18

18-

20

21

za

23

24

SETIMADF Sentence

situation and health of her parents has been devastating to
her. We have no idea how we will continue to pay for cellege
without it being a terrible financial burden and worry on all

oFf

ug .

Tmmediately after hearing the news of the ponzi
scheme, we filed papers for finmancial aid to sustain our
daughter through college. We were informed we were not
eligible for any grant money, that our only hope would bhe to
take out Lloans. However, in this financial environment,
without SIPIC insurance and with concern about claw-back
litigation, we can't possibly take loans out to send our
daughter to college. The turmoil caused by our financial
devastarion has caused us gerious physical and emotional
problems from which we need medical tresatment.

Your Honcor, please understand that we, the investors,
have been punished by Madoff's crime. We were devastated by
the SREC'g failure to uncover Madoff's fraud and its continued
stamp of approval b@hind.Madoff over the decadeg of his crime.
We have been abandoned by our elected officials which refuse to
require the SEC to find income. We have been betrayed by
gIPIC, which in order to save money, has invented a new
definition of net equity to deprive us of the $500,000 of
insurance of which we were assured.

Pleage, your Honor, do not fail us. Please assure
that Madoff is sentenced with the maximum possible time and he

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, p.C.
{212) BOG-0200
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is reguired to serve his sentence in a maximum security prison.
This ig not & man who deserves a federal countxy club.

Respectfully, Carla Uirschhorn.

THE COURT: Thank you.

It is not up to me, by the way, where Mr. Madoff will
be designated. A number of people have made that suggestion,
but it is up to the Bureau of Prisons.

Next we'll hear from Sharon Lissauer.

ME&. LISSAUER: My name iz Sharon Lissauwer. Thank you,
your Honor, for letting me speak. I am very emotional, so
please bear with me 1f I break down into tears. As everyone
knows, this nichtmare has begun six and a half wonths ago and
vet it seems like a lifetime.

I keep on thirnking I am going to wake wp from it. It
keeps on getting worse. My life and my future have been
ruined. I was always so careful with my money, but I entrusted
everything I had to Mr. Madoff, my whole 1ife savings from
modeling and the inheritance of my mom. She just died last
vear, and as soon as I got the mopney, because I just miss hex
and I trusted Mr. Madoff so wmuch, I gave it all to him, but now
I don't have my mom or the money.

I know I am not alcme. I know he has ruined thousands
of people's lives. In the March hearing he said that he was
truly sorry, which I dom't really believe, but even if it is a

1ittle bit true, then I am not asking him, I am begging him, if

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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he has any money from the cffshore accounts or his family has
any money obtained from this horrible fraud, that they disgorge
it and give_it back to the victims so they can have a little
bit of their lives back.

With respect to his senteﬁcingt I uéed ﬁo‘think thét
it didn't ﬁatter if he got 15C years, what would that do Eor
the victims? It WDuldn't get their money back;' But now upon
reflection, I think he should spend his wheole 1life in jail‘
bacauge what he has done is just despicable., He has ruined so
many pecple's lives. He killed my spirit and shattered my
dreams. He destroved my trust in pecple. He destroyed my

life, and I have no other assets. I meke very little money

from modeling and he left me in a very difficult position to

pay my bills and support myself. For the first time in my life
I am very, very frightened of wmy future.

Thank you, your Honoxr.

THE COURT: Thank you.

Next we'll hear frowm Burt Ross.. Mr. Rossg.

MR. ROS8: Your Honor, my name is Burt Ross and my
wife Joan and I lost &5 million because of the criminal acts of
Bernard Madoff. HNot cnly have I lest the inheritance of my
father who worked his entire 1life, not only have I logt the
inheritance of my father who worked for his entire life so that
his children and his children‘s children can leave a better
1ife, I have lost our retirement accounts and funds in trust

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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for our children.

The fact ig though we are one of the fortuhate ones
because we gtill have a root over our heads, food on our table,
un*mke 8o many others who have meen.&orced to s&ll their homes,
who3hava been. fOlCEd to Sail thelr hom&s and chk up the pleces
bf their Lives. .

Years ago I att@nded’a Frlmndé sec0ﬂdary school. whele
we thought that in aacb parson there was an,lnner light, that
of God and everyone. For the life of me; aé far as I have
searched, I cannot £ind that inner light in Bernard Madoff.

What can we possibly say about Madoff, that he was a
philanthropist, when the money ne gave to charities he stole
from the very same charities he ultimately devastated; that he
was a good family man when he leaves hie grandchildren a name
that mortifies them, a name which will live in infamy; that he
ig genuinely remorseful for his ponduct when the statement he
read in this very court was totally without emotion, when sven
after confessing he fought to keep asséts away from those he
hurt, when we all know his only regret was getting caught.

Can we say Madoff was a righteous Jew who served O
;he boards of Jewish institutions when he sank so low, when he
sank so low as to steal from Elie Weisel, as if Weisel hasn't
already suffered enough in his lifetime.

A righteous Jew, when in reality nobody has done more
to reinforce the ugly stereotype that all we care about is

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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monay the fact is there are no people on this =arth wmore
charitable? But we will survive. We have gurvived worsse than
Madoff.

What Bernard L. Madoff 4did far transcends the loss of

money. It involves his betrayal of the virtues people hold

 dearest -- love, friendship, trust -- and all so he can eat at

- the finest restaurants, stay at the mest luxurious resortg, and

tf@yel‘oﬁ:yaghts and private jets. He ﬁas truly éarned his
reputatién for béing the most desyised‘persom £0 be in Americé
today.

Beveral hundred years ago the Italian poet Dante in
his "The Divine Cbme&y“ recognized fraud as the worst of sins,
the ultimate evil more than any other act contrary to God's
greatest gift to mankind -- love. In fact, he placed the
perpetrators of f£raud in the lowest depths of hell, even below
those who had committed violent acts. And those who betraved
their benefactors were the worst sinnsrs of all, s¢ in the
three mouths of Satan struggle Judas for betraying Jesus
Christ, and Brutus and Caszsius for betraving Julius Cassar.

Please Allow me to take a liberty now by speaking for
many of those victims who because of frailty, privacy,
digtance, or other reagons are unable to bear witness today.

We urge your Honor to commit Madoff to priscn for the remainder
of hig natural life, and when he leasves this earth virtuslly
unmourned, may Satan grow a forth mouth where Bernard L. Madoff

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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deserves to spend the rest of eternity.

Thank you.

THE COURT: Thank vou. WNext we'll hear Irom Michael
Schwartz.

ME. SCHWARTZ: Can everyone hear me?

My ﬁame ig Michael Schwartz. I am 33 yvears! old. It

was my family's trust fund that helped fund the money for

' mernard Madoff's organization. Since I was a tesnager, I

invested into what I thought was a fgrthrigﬁt and-iégitimate‘
investment firm. During this time I made sure i lived well.
within my means; nothing extravagant. I viéwed my investment
as a safety net in case I should hit hard timeg or perhaps face
medical issues.

Unfortunztely, several months ago, my job was
regionalized, eliminated. T was handed a letter of
recommendation and sent on wy way. It didn't hit me until T
got home that the company that you Ian.had already taken my
life =avings. At 33, I wae wiped out. |

1 am one of the lucky ones by far. I have my health.
I am young, I have great friends, got a loving wife.
Unfortunately, the money you took from other members of my
family wasn't a minor setback. It was guite a bit more. Your
uonor, part of the trust fund wasn't set aside for a house in
rhe Hamptons, a large yacht or box seat to the Mets. No, part
of that money was set asgide to take care of my twin brothser who

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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iz mentally disabled, who at 33, he lives at home with my
parents and will need care and supervision for the rest of his
life.

In the final analysiszs, my family wants to remember
that in addition to stealing £from retirees, veterans, widows,
Bernard Madoff stole from the disabled. Every time he cashed a
check and paid for his family's decadent lifestyle, he killed

dreams. My parents had a simple dream for my brother, a week

. at summer camp, somaeday being able to live in a good, a good

group hqmé. Thaﬁks to‘Bernaxd_Madéﬁf'$'greed, COmplét@_lack of
ethicé, that dream will be délajéd, |

At the end of the day my twin brother will be taken
care of. My family is strong eﬁough to weather this storm but,
yvour Honor, I say this without any malice, Bernard Madoff
should no longer be allowed back in society. I only hope that
hig prison éentence ig long encugh so that his jail cell
becomes his coffin. Thank you.

THE COURT: Thank you.

We'll hear next from Miriam Siegman.

ME. SIEGMAN: I was born a few blocks from this
courthougse. I still live here. On a cold winter's day just
before my 65th birthday, the man sitting in front of me
announced to the worlid that he had stolen everything I had.
After that he refused to say anocther word to his victims., I am
here today'to bear witness for myself and others, silent

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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victims.

The streets of my childhood felt safe. The Strgets I
wander now feel threatening. The man sitting in this courtioom
robbed me. In an instant his wqrds and deeds beat me Lo near
senseiegsness. He discarded me like road kill. Victims became
the byproduct of his greed. We are what ié left over, the
remnants of stunning in&iffef&nea and that of politicians and
bureaucrats.

six months have passed. I manage on food stemps. AL
the end of the month I sometimes scavage in dumpsters. :I
cannct afford new aveglasees I iong to go to a concert, but I
never do. GSometimes my heartbeats erratically for lack of
medication when I cannot pay foxr i

1 shine wy shoes each nigﬁt, afraid they will wear
out. My laundry is done by hand in the kitchen sink. I have
collected empty cans and dragged them to redémption centers.

I do this. People ask how are you? My answer always
is T'm fine, but it is not always true. I have lived with
fear. It strikes me at all hours. I calculate again and again
how long I can hold out.

it is only a-matt@r of time. I will be unable to meet
my own basic needs, food, shelter, madicine., I feel grief at
no longer being able to help support my heloved sister. I feel
shame and humiliation asking for help.

I also feel overwhelming sadnessz. 1 know that another

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPCRTERE, P.C.
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human being did this to me and to all victims, but T don't know
why. What I do understand frightens me. The man who did this
had deep contempt for his victims.

There are many victims including those we never hear
from or see; union members, pipe-fitters, laborers, women who
work in nuising homes, bricklayers, firemen, working people.
One victim shot himself. The inguest informs us he was a
highly decorated former soldier who could not face the shame of
his ruin, his last words on a humanitarian ﬁission in
Afghanistan. By self-admission, this thief among us knew his

victims were facing a kind of death at his hands, yet he

continued to play with ug asg a cat would with & mouse.

What shall be the punishment-for such a man? What
gentence? - Carry the burden we carry,_feel hig shams,
humiliation and isolation as I do. Feel it each day wherever
you are until life ends.

Face an acknowledge the murdercus effects of your
life's work. I long for the truth that might become of a trial
and hope justice had placed a higher premium on truth and
expediency. Forgiveness for now, it will have to come from
somecne other than mé.

THE COURT: Thank vou. Finally we'll hear from Sheryl
Weinstein.

MS. WEINSTEIN: Hello, your Honor.

THE COﬁRT: Good morning.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPCRTERS, P.C.
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MS . WEINSTEIN: I was introduced to Bernard Madoff 21
years ago at a business meeting. At the time I was the chief
financial officer of Hadassah, a charitable women's
organization. I now view that day as perhaps the unluckiest
day of my life because of the many events set into motion‘that

would eventually have the most profound and devastating effect

on me, my husband, wmy child, my parents, my in-laws and ail

those who depended upon us for their liveliness.

vou have read and you appear from many of us, the old,
the young, the healthy and infirm about the unimaginable extent

of human tragedy and devastation. According to & Time Magazine

article, there are over 3 million individuals worldwide who

have been dl?ectly or lndlractly affected. They, the press and

ths medla, speak of us as b@lng greedy and rlcn Maost of us

. are just ordinary wormlng peopie, workel 3@@5, ag I like to

refer to us.

My husband and I are now both in our §0's and have
been married for 37 years. We have saved for mest of ocur lives
by living beneath our means in order to provide for our
retirement. This past Thursday at 2:00 o'clock my husband and
T "sold our home of 20 years. People are always asking how much
did we lose? My reply is that when you losge everyvthing, it
really doesn't matter because you have nothing left, and we
have lost everything.

Many have told us we were lucky -- I no longer know --

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{(212) BOB-0380
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zo be able to sell in this depressed market although at 2
greatly reduced amount. We had to sell because four years ago
we fefinanced our mortgage and gave the excess cash to Bernie
Madofif. There was very little left over after all was said and
done at the closing.

It is difficult.to degcribe how it feels due to
circumgtances ocutside of your cbntrol to be wvirtually forced
out of your home, to leave unwillingly. Last Tuesday I walked
out following the movers with a thought I would be back before
the closing, bt knowing in the back of wy mind that T
wouldn't. |

My husband was the last to be in our home. He shaved
with me his hesitation of not wanting.to leave, of wanting to
remain, but realizing that staving was no léngex an option.f We
chose not to oo to the closiﬁg because it would have been tbo
diffiéﬁlt and painful for ei£herlof.us:tc be there. For3months
aftex:December‘lith b wgui&'&ake'in £hefdark-hours_of the ﬁight 
and early mbﬁning:and to my'horfér xeaiizé that tﬁ@re wefe no
calming, eoothing words I could sa? to mysélf because it wasn't
a dream. The monster who visited me was true, a reallty.

Those same thoughts would occcur to me upon waking in the
morning and during the day and a deep, heavy depression would
gurround me and not 1ift

This went one for many mounths. I went on after bad
dreams, virtually not unable to eat. The sight of food was

SCUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212} 805-0300
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making me fesl sick, unable to escape the reallty of Yy
personal devastation. At times 1 éould not even bear to be
slone. I would ask my friends to either stay with me at the
office even if there was very little work to do. It would
prompt me to pick up the phone to call my husband to be
reagsured I was not alone.

This continued until March 12th when Madoff entered
his plea of guilty. 1 begén to speak out to the media, and the
helpless and hopeless feelings began to retreat and I began to
feel empowered. It came together for me while being.
interviewed by Katie Couric. She asked me wasn't 1 smbarrassed
being a CPA losing all my money? At that moment T realized and
responded no, I am not embar:assed because I did not lose wy
money. My méney was stolen from me.

M. Couric said to me you sgound angry, and I said ves,

‘you're right. When someone steals from you, you get angry.

| That was the beginning of my healing process.

i felﬁ it was importanﬁ for éém@body.who.as perasonally
acquaiﬁ@éd witthadoff o speak. Mf féﬁily éna I ére not
anon?moug péople to him. He knows my husband's name is Rob and
my‘gon‘s namé ig Bric. Im fact, Eric wqued'for him ong summer
while in college many years ago. Eric would continue to call
him over the years to ask for his advice and input. Eric
entrusted him with his money that he worked and saved. s few
months before all this happened Eric had spoken tco him and

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERE, FP.C.
{212} 805-0300
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thankéd him for doing such a good job.

I would now like to have the opportunity to share with
vou my personal feelings about Madoff and to speak to his
gentencing.

I remember when my son was perhaps a few weeks' old
and I would watch him as he slept and he would whimper, not a
cry of hunger, but a whimper. Even at a few weeks' old there
was something in his subconscious that could frighten him. It
amazed me such a young chil@, an infant can have nightmares.

2ll of us from our earlisst agés remember those times
when the terror, the monsters and goblins would come visit us
in those dark hours. Eventually we would be so frightensd that
we would awake sometimes calling out to cur parents because of
the fear.

It was calming to have our parents remind us it was
only a dream. As we got older, we.couid wake curselves and

self-azsure ourselves it was only a dream. That terror, that

monster, that horror, that beast has a name po'me, and it is

=

Bernard L. Madoff. I will now attempt to explain to you the
nature of -this beast who I called Madoff.

He walke among ug. He dresses like us. He drives and

- eats and drinks and speaks.  Under the facade there is truly a

beast. He isg a beast that has stolen for his own needs the
livelihoods, savings, lives, hopes and dreamg and futureg of
others in total disregard. He has fed upon us to satisfy his

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212} BG5-0300
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own needs. No matter how much he takes and from whom he takes
he is never satisfied. He is an egual opportunity destroyer.

T felt it important for you to know in- appearance, he
would be just like everybody elss and it is for thie reason I
am asking your Honor to keep him in a cage behind bars because
he has lost the privilege of walking and being among us mortal
human beings. He should not be given the opportunity to walk
inte our =ocilety again.

1 would like to suggest that while any man, woman O¥

child that has been affected by his heinous crime still walks

thig earth, Madoff the beast should not be free to walk among
rhem. You should protect society from the likes of him., I
have reread Madoff's March 12th statement to you. Certain
gquotes jumped out at me. His continuing self-serving
references, and I guote, that his proprietary txading in the
market meking business managed by hig brother and two song was
legitimate, profitabls and successful in all r@spects; or that
he felt, "compelled to satisfy my clients“exp@ctations at’ any
cost . "

1t sounds as if he is laying the blame on his c¢lients!
cxpectatlons and never adnﬁttlng bhe cruth he was stealing from
these cllents and the lives he rulned TE ha WES attemptlng to
protect his famiiy,_hc should not be gaven that opportuaz;y
because wa, the victims, did not have the same oppartunaty to
protect Qﬁr families. Madoff the beast has stolen our ability

SOUTHERNlDiSTRICT'REPORTERS, P.C,
{212) 805-0200
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to protect ocur loved ones away from us. He should have no
opportunity to protect his family.

We, fhe victims,  are greatly disappointed by those
agencieg that were set up Lo protect us. SIPIC has now
redafined what we are entitled to. The IRS approved theilr
office request to be & custodian of our IRAs and pension funds
and the SEC appeaxrs to have locgked the other way Of NURSTous
oecasions.  This is & human tragedy of historic proportions and

we asgk -- no, we implore -- that those whose agencies way have

failed us in the past thwrough acts cf omigsions, step up to the

plate, fulfill their responsibilities. I thank your Honor for
vour indulgence and I feel comfortable you will make sure
justice is served.

Thank you.

THE CQURT: Thank you.

Thanks to all the victime who spoke today and to all
those who wrote. 1 appreciate hearing your views.

Mr. Sorkin.

MR. SORKIN: GCood morning, your Honor.

THE COURT: Cood morning.

MR. SORKIN: Befors I speak, would your Honor
respectfully acknowledgs ycu have received both the
govarnmeﬁt's séntencing‘memorandum and tﬁo réspoases?

'iTHEfCDURT:  Yes, I have your-initial letter. I

i received yestexday vour reply brief. I have the government's.

| SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) B05-0200
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memorandum as well.

MR. SORKIN: Thank you.

THE COURT: I have read them all.

MR. SORKIN: Thank vou, your HORor.

May I proceed?

THE COURT: Yes.

MR . SORKIN: Your Honor, I know I spsak on behalf of
511 Mr. Madoff's counsel as well as Mr. Madoff who will speak.
We cannot be unmoved by what we heard. There is no way that we
cannot be insensitive to the victims' suffering.

Thig is a tragedy as some of the victims have said at
every level. There is no doubt Mr. Madoff will speak. We
represent a deeply flawed individual, but we represgent, your
Honor, a human being. We don't represent a statistic. We
don't represent a number. We speak to the victims. We have
heard what they've had to say and we can only imagine, your
Honor, what we would have heard from others.

I say again, forgive me for being redundant, we
represent a very flawed individual, an individual who appears
pefore this court facing a sentence that is sufficient but noct
unreasonably necessary to carry out the ﬁandate that this court
has to carry out.

The magnificence of our legal system, your Homor, is

"thab we do not saek an eye for an eve. To be sure, if it is

amy‘consoTatlon ta. the v1ct1ms, we have worked hop@fuily

SOUTHERN DISTRE“T REDORTERS, p.C.
{212) 805- 0300
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diligently with the U.S. Attorney's Cffice in an atmosphere of
trying to récover ass@ts; To that extent, vour Honor, wé have
provided the government with what we believe to be the assets
that Mr. Madoff has gathered over the years which the victims
have referred to, and again_if'it iz any consolation to them,
o the extent that the government has left him and his family,
his wife impoverished, we are just about there with respect to
everything the government believes it can show in order to
obtain the appropriate assets for forfeiture.

Vengeance is not the goal of punishment. Our system
of justice, your Hopor, has recognized that justice is and must
always be blind and fair -- not blind to the criminal acts that
My, Madoff pleaded guilty to and certainly not blind to the
suffering of the victims, but blind to the extent that it will
échieve a sentence that has been set out over the years in the
guidelinez and the cases interpreting the guidelines, and the
guidelines and the courts and the statutes, your Honor, do not
speak of vengsance and revenge.

There ig something bordering on the absurd, and we
citad United States versus Ellisgon on this point, your Honor.
For the government to ask for 150 years so that Mr. Madolf geits
out of jail at the age df 221 because he is 71 now, he will

face supervised release. By the same token, your Honor, it

 defies reason for the Probation Department to suggest that he

be sentenced to 50 years in prison for-the very Same reasons.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0360
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I point out to the court, and forgive me, your Honor,
for repeating what is in the letter we ssnt vou most recantly,
rhat Mr. Madoff, as he pleaded Lo, ag appears in the
presentence report and appears in the information in which the
government agrees, for most of the period of time that Mr.
Madoff iz alleged to have engaged in this ponzi scheme and, in
fact, it was a ponzi scheme, it was mwoney in and money out.

Most of the money, and I am guoting from the PSR, went
for redemptions. People who invested money were given back
money. To be sure, it was a fraud. To be sure, it was a ponzi
scheme. To be sure, it was a crime, but nevertheless, youxr
Honor, I point out, and in response respectfully to some of the
victims, the PER noted, and I think it is cowmmon knowledge in
the industry that Mr. Madoff built up this firm on the
proprietary trading side to the point in 1991, as the
presentence report peints out, the proprietary trading side
which at the point of hig arrest had appxoximateiy 200
employees separate and apart from the fraudulent advisory
business, a hundred traders making markets and in 1981, your
Honor, accounted for almost 10 percent of all transacticns on
the New York.Stock Exchange.

Sufficient to provide revenue at the same time Mr.
Médoff engaged in taking money in and taking money out, most of

that money went for redemptions. As we point out in our lettsr

“of yesteérday, and as the govermment notes and as the PSR notes,

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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the loans, the comingling, and we we do dispute this with the

government, but I don't think it is a relevant issue, the

comingling, the loans.

(Continuved on next page)

. SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212} 805-0300




Case 2:09-cv-00816-SRC-MCA Document 42-8 Filed 03/12/10 Page 87 of 116

18

17

18

19

20

Pl

22

23

24

25

34
96T8MADZ

E
MR. SORKIN: The loans, the commingling, conmenced ‘
i

within the last eight to ten vears. And as Mr. Madoff will

say, things began to collapse. And there was commingling with
4250 million over the last eight or so years, of advisory
money, as well as money in, monsy out of investments.

T think it's important to note, your Honor, again that
Mr. Madeoff steppéd forward. He chose not to flee. He chose
not to hide money. To the extent money is overseas, wWe are
still actively engaged -- we, his defense coungel -- in
sssisting the government, at the request of the government, to
obtain assets located ovefseas, as we speak, and we submitted
that voluntarily, and we have been trying to help, with
Mr . Madoff's authorization, permission, and blessing.

My . Madoff is 71 vears old, your Honor. Based upoen
his health, which is in the PSR, his family history, hisg life
axpecténéy, that is why we ask for a sentence of 12 years, just
short, based upon the statisties that we have, of a life
sentence.

We also said, if yoﬁr Honor is inclined, your Honor
obvidusly makes the decision, 15 to 20 years. So that iIf
Mr. Madoff ever seesg the light of day, in his 20s, impoverished
and alone, he will have paid a terrible price. He expects,
your Homor, to live out hislyears in prisomn.

The PSR points out, your Konor; as we noted in our

letter to you, that the loss in this case is $£13,226,000,000.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212} 805-0300
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The exact numbers are in the PSR. What has not been hear
publicly, your Honor, is the fact that over §1,276,000,000 is
held by the SIPC trustee, and we have no control over how that
money is disbursed. - And I say this for the victims we have
heard. Again, we have no control over what the SIPC trustes
does with the money that he cobtains, nor do we have any control
over what the SEC will do, nor do we have any control as to how
the government to whom we have forfeited all of the assets but
a few, which the government and we have agreed were weighed
against the risk of litigation, we have no control how that
money is disbursed.

Additionally fto the $1,276,000,000, the SIPC trustee,
according to the PSR, has recoversd $1,225,000,DOO, hag sent
demand letters to individuals for 735 wmillion, and has
commenced litigation to sesk a clawback fZrom some very large
funde to obtain redemptions and interest payments in the amount
of $10,100,000,000. It is our hope, your Honor, our sincerest
hope, that ail that money is collected, in an amount in excess
of $13,226,000,000, that that will be provided to iﬁvestorg.

The frenzy, the media excitement, that Mr. Madoff
engaged in a Ponzi scheme involving.$65 billion and that he has
ferratad money away, as far as we know, your Honor, that is

simply not true, and it is not borme out either by the

_government or by the PSR, and we take no issue with the PSR.

In closing, your Honor, there is no guestion that this

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212} 805-0300 :
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case has taken an enormous toll, not only on Mr., Madoff and his
family, but to the victims to be sure. 3But it hag alsc taken &
toll, your Honor, as Mr. Madoff will say, on the industry that
he helped revolutionize, that he helped grow, and now has
become the obiect of disrespsct and abhomination, and that is a
tragedy as well.

We ask only, your Honor, that Mr. Madeff be given
understanding and fairness, within the parameters of our legal
system, and that the sentence that he be given be sufficient,
but not greater than necsssary, to carry out what this Court
must carry out under the rules, statutes and guidelines.

Thank you, your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank you.

Mr. Madoff, if vou would like to speak, now is the
rime.

TH®E DEFENDANT: Your Honof, I cannot offer you an
excuge for my behavior. How do you excuse petraying thousands
of investors who entrusted me with their life savings? How do
vou excuse decelving 200 emplovees who have spenﬁ most of their
working Llife working for me? How do you excuse lying to your
brother énd two song who spent their whele adult iife helping
to build a successful and respectful business? How do you
excuse 1lying and deceiving a wife who stood by vou for 50
vears, and still stands Dy you? And how do you excuse
decsiving an industry that you spent é better part of your life

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPCORTERS, P.C.
{212} 805-0300
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trying to improve? There is no excuse for that, and I don't
ask any forgivensss.

Although I may not have intended any harm, I did a
great deal of harm. I believed when I started this problem;
this crime, that it would be something I would be able to work
my way out of, but that became impossible. As hard as I tried,
the deeper I dug myself into a hele. I made a terrible
mistake, but it wasn't the kind of mistake that I had made time
and time again, which is a trading mistake. In my business,
when you make a trading error, you're expected to make a
trading error, it's accepted. My ervor was much more serious.
I made an error of judgment. I refused to accept the faclt,
could not accepﬁ the fact, that for once in wmy life I failed.

I couldn't admit that failure and that was a tragic mistake.

I am responsible for a great deal of suffering and
pain. I understand that. I live in a tormented state now
knowing of all the pain and suffering that I have created. I

have left a legacy of shame, as some of my victims have pointed

out, to my family and my grandchildren. That's something I

will live with for the rest of my life.

Pecple have accused me of being silent and not being
sympathetic. That ig not true. They have accused my wife of
being silént and nﬁt being sympathetic. WNothing. could be
further from the truth. She cries herself to sleep every night
knowing of all the pain and suffering I have causé&, and I am

SCUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) BO5-0300
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tormented by ﬁhat as well. She was advised to not speak
publicly until arter wy santanciﬁg by our attorneys, and she
compliad with that. Today she will make a statement about how
she feels about wmy crimes. I ask you to listen to that. She
ig sincere and ail I ask you 1s to listen to her,

Apologizing and saying I am sorry, that's not enough.
Nothing I can say will chrect.the things that I have done. I
feel terrible that an industry I spent my life trying to
improve is b@img.criticized rerribly now, that regulators who I
nelped work with over the years are being criticiged by what I
have done. That iz a horribls guilt to live with. There is
nothing T cén do that will make anyone feel better for the pain
and suffering I caused them, but I will live with this pain,
with this torment for the rest of my life.

I apologize to my victims. T will turn and face you.
T am sorrv. I know that doesn't help you.

Your Henor, thank you for listening to me.

THE COURT: Thank you.

Mr. Sorkin, did I understand Mr. Madoff to say that
Mrs. Madeff wanted to speak? '

ME. SORKIN: ©No, your Honor. Mrs. Madeff after the
sentencing will be giving a statement. And I add what
Mr. Madoff said about belaboring it, that she was advised by
counsel to wait till after sentence.

THE COURT: 1 théught he was saying she wanted to

SQUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-0300




Case 2:09-cv-00816-SRC-MCA Document 42-8 Filed 03/12/10 Page 92 of 116

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

38
SeT8MAD2

gpeak. Thank vou.
I will heaxr from the government.

MS . BARONT: Thisg defendant carried out a fraud of

- unprecedsnted proporticon over the course of more than a

generation. For more éhan 20 vears he stole ruthlessly and
without remorse. Thousands of people placed their trust in him
and he lied repeatedly to all of them. 2And as the Court heard
from all of the victims, in their woxds and in the letters, he
destroyed a lifetime of hard work of thousands of victiwms. And
he used that victims' meoney to enrich himself and his family,
with an opulent lifestyle, homes arcund the world, yachts,
private jets, and tens of millions of dollars of loans to his
family, loans of investors' money that haé never besn repald.

The guideline sentence in this case, as your Honor
knows, ig 150 years and the government respectiully submits
that a sentence of 150 years or a gsubstantial term of
imprisonment that will ensure that he spends the rest of his
1ife in jail is appropriate in this case.

" This was not a crime born of any financial distress or
market pressures. It was a calculated, well orchestrated,
long-term fraud, that thie defendant carried out month after
month, year after year, decade after decade. He created
iiterally hundreds and hundreds of thousands of fake documente
evéry year. Bvery time he told his clients that he was making
trades for them he sent them trade confirmations £illed with

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-0300
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lies. At every month end he sent them account statements that
were nothing but lies. BAnd the defendant knew that hig clients
made critically important life decisions, as your Honor haard
today, based on these lies. Decisions about their children's
education, their rstirement, how to care for slderly relatives,
and how to provide for theilr familiesz. He knew this, and he
atole from them anyway. |

In dolng so, he drove charities, companies, pension
plans and families TO economic ruin. And even on the most
digpassionate view of the evidence, the gcale of the fraud,
which is at a conservative esgtimate, your Honor, $13 billion,
when vou look at the duration of the fraud, which iz more than
20 years, when vyou look at the fact that the defendant could
have stopped this fraud and saved the victims' locsses, all of
these facts justify a guideline sentence of 150 years.

and to address briefly some of Mr. Sorkin's arguments,
despite Mr. Sorkin's arguments, the defendant here deserves no
leniency and certainly does not deserve a sentence of 12 years'
imprisonment.

My . Sorkin tries to argue that the loss amount'ié
actuslly going to be lese than 13 billion because the trustee
may recover some assets in clawback procesdings. As your Honor
knows, that has nothing to do with the loss amount in this
case. Further, the defendant shouldn't get any credit for
anything the government or the trustes does after the fraud to

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) B0O5-0300
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recover money.

In asking for 12 vears, your Honor, the defendant i
asking vou to impose a sentence that a defendant would receive
in a garden variety fraud case in chig district, a cage with
about $20 million of losses and far fewer victims. In imposing
a 12 year sentence in this case, on the facts and circumstances
here, would be profoundly unfair. Not only would it not
reflect the geriousness and the scope of the defendant's
crimes, but, also, it would not promote the goals of general
deterrence golng forward.

Mr. Sorkin's argument that the defendant should gest
some credit for coming forward and turning himself in is also
entirely meritless. The defendant continued his fraud scheme
until th@ very end, when he knew the scheme was days away from
collapse, when he was alwmost out of money and when he wag faced
with redemption reguests from clients that he knew he could not
meet . And even at that point, rather than turning himself in,
he tried to take the last of his victims' money. He prepared
$173 million in checks that he planned to give to his family,
his friends, and some preferred clients. It was his final
effort to put his interests above those of his clients, and had
the FBI not arrested him when they did, he might well have
succeeded.

Your Honor, in sum, for running an investwment advisory
business that was a complete fraud, for betraying hig clients

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
' (212} 805-0300
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for decades, and for repeatedly lying to regulators to cover up
hisg fraud, for the staggering harym that he has inflicted cn
rhousands of people, for all of these reasons and all of the
reasons vour Honor heard so eloguently from the victims, the
governmeﬁt respectfully reguests that the Court sentence the
defendant to 150 years in prison br s substantial term of
imprisonment that ensures that he will spend the rest of his
iife in jail.

Thank you.

THE COURT: Thank you.

I take into account what I have read in the
presentence report, the parties’ gentencing submigsions, and
rhe e-mails and letters from victims. I take into account what
I have heard today. I also consider the statutory factors as
well as all the facts and circumstanceg in the case.

In his initial letter on behalf of Mr. Madoff, Mr.
Borkin argues\that the unified tone of the victims' letters
suggests a desire for mob vengeance. He also writes that
Mr. Madoff sesks neither mercy nor sympathy, but justice and
objectivity.

Despite all the emotﬁon in the air, I do not agres
with the suggestion that victims an& others are seeking mob
vengeance. The fact that many have gsounded similar themes deoes
not mean Ehat they are acting'togeth@r as a'mab. I do agres
that a Just and proportionate sentence must be determined,

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, B.C.
(212) 805-0300
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objectively,.and without hvsteria or undue emotion.
| Chiectively speaking, the Ifraud here was staggeriﬁg.

it spanned more than 20 years. Mr. Madoff argues in his reply
letter that the fraud did not begin until thes 18%0s. I guesse
it's more that the commingling did not begin until the 1990s,
but it is clear that the fraud began earlier. And even if it
is true that it only started in the 199%0s, the fraud exceeded
ten years, still an extracrdinarily long period of time. The
fraud reached thousands of victiﬁs.

as for the amount of the monetary loss, there appears
to be some disagreemsent. Mr. Madeif disputes.that the loss
amount is S65 billion or even $13 billien. But Mr. Madoff has
now acknowledged, however, that some $170 billion flowed into
his buginezs as a result of his fraudulent scheme. The
presentence report uses & logs amount of 313 khillion, but as I
understand it, that number does not include the losses from
moneys invested through the feeder funds., That's ﬁhat the PSR
states. Mr. Madoff argues that the $13 billion amount should
be reduced by the amounts that the SIPC trustee may be able to
claw back, but that argument falls. Those clawbacks, if they
happened, will result in othérs who suffered losses. Moreover,
¥r. Madoff told his sons that there were $50 billion in losses;
In any event, by any of these wonetary measures, the fraud here
is unprecedented.

Moreover, the offense level of 52 is calculated by

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212} 805-030C0
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using & chart for loss amount that only goes up to $400

[

million. By any of thess msasures, the loss figurs hers is
many times that amount. It's off the chart by many Told.

Moreover, as many of the victims have pointed out,
thig is not just a matter of money. The breach of trust was
maseive. Investors -- individuals, chavities, pension funds,
institutional clients -- were repeatedly lied to, as they were
told their moneys would be invested in stocks when they wers
not. Clients were sent these millions of pages of account
statements that the govermment just alluded to confirming
rrades that were never made, attesting to balances that did not
exist . As the victims' letters and e-mails demonstrate, as the
statements today demonstrate, investors made important life
decisions based on these fictitious account statements -- when
to retire, how to care for slderly parents, whether to buy a
car or sell a house, how to save for their children's college
tuition. Charitable organizations and pension fuﬁds made
important decisiong based on false information about fictitious
accounte. Mr. Madoff also repeatedly lied to the SEC and the
regulators, in writing and in sworn testimony, by withholding
material information, by creating false documents to cover up
hig scheme.

Tt ig true that Mr., Madoff used much of the money to
pay back investors who asked along the way to withdraw their
accounts. BDut large sums were also taken by him, for his

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-03G0
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personal use and the use of his family, friends, and
colleagues. The PSR shows, for example, that Mr. Madoff
reported adjusted gross income of moxe than §250 miillion on his
tax returns for the ten year period from 1998 through 2007. On
numerous otcasions, Mr. Madoff used his firm's bank accounts
which contained customer funds to pay for his personal expenses
and those of his family, including, for example, the purchase
of a Manhattan apartment for a relative, the acguisition of two
yachts, and the acguisition of four country club memberships at
a cost of $950,000. Billions of dollars more were paid to
individuals who generated investments for Mr. Madoff through
these feeder funds.

Mr. Madoff argues a nuwmber of mitigating factors but
they are less than compelling. It is true that he egsentially
turned himself in and confessed to the FBI. But the fact is
+hat with the turn in the economy, hé was not able Lo keep up
with the regueste of customers to withdraw their funde, and it
iz apparent that he knew that he was going to be caught soon.
T+ igs true that he consented to the entry of a $170 billion
forfeiture order and has cooperated in transferring assets to
the govermment for liguidation for the benefit of victims. But
all of thls was done only after he was arrested, and there is
lirtle that he cculd have done to zlgh” the forfalbure of these
amsets. Moreover, the SIPC trustes has advised the Court
My . Madoff haz not been helpful, and I simply do not get the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212} BOH-0300
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sense that Mr. Madoff has done all that he could or told all
that he knows.

Mrs. Madoff has stipulated to the transfer of some $80
million in asgets to the govermment for the benefit of victims,
but the record also shows that %é it becams clear that
Mr. Madoff's scheme was unraveling, he made substantial loans
to family members, he transferred séme $15 million of fixrm
funds inte hig wife's personal accounts, and he wrote out the
checks that the government has just described.

T have taken into account the sentences imposed in
other financial fraud cases in this digtrict. BRut, frankly,
none of these other cases is comparable to this case in cerms
of the scope, duration and enormity of the fraud, and the
degree of the betrayal.

In texms of mitiéating factors in a white-collar fraud
case such as this, I would expect to see letters from family
and friends and colleagues. But not a single letter has been
cubmitted attesting to Mr. Madoff's good deeds or good
character or civic or charitable activities. The absence of
such support is telling.

We have heard much about a life expectancy analysis.
Based on this analysis, Mr. Madoftf has a life expectancy of 13
vears, and he therefore asks for & sentence of 12 years or
alternatively 15 to 20 years. If Mr. Sorkin's life expectancy
analysis is correct, any sentence above 20 or 25 years would be

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-0300
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largely, if not entirely, symbolic.

But the gymbolism is important, for at least three
reasons. First, retribution. One of the traditional notions
cf punishment is that an offender should be punished in
proportion to hisg blameworthiness. Here, the message must be
sent that Mr. Madoff's crimes were extraordinarily evil, and
that thiz kind of irrespongible manipulation of ths system is.
not ﬁerely a bloodiess financial cxime that takes place just on
paper, but that it is instead, as we have heard, ons that takes
a staggering human toll. The symbolism is irportant because
the message must be sent that in a society governed by the rule
of law, Mr. Madoff will get what he deserves, and that he will
be punished according to his meral culpability.

Second, deterrence. Ancther important goal of

punighment is deterrence, and the sywbolism is important here

because the strongest poessible message must be aent to those
who would engage in similar conduct that they will be caught
and thét they will be punished to the fullest extent of the
law. |

Finally, the symbolism is also important for the
victimg. The victims include individuals from all walks of
1ife. The wvictime include charities, both large and =small, as
well as academic institutions, pension funds, and othex
entitieg. Mr. Madoff's very personal betrayval struck at the
rich and the not-so-rich, the elderly living on retirement

SOUTHERN DISTRICT KEPORTERS, P.C.
{212) B0L~0300
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funds and social security, middle clase folks trying to put
their kids through college, and ordinary people who worked hard
to save their money and who thought they were investing it
safely, for themselves and their families.

T veceived letters, and we have heard from, for
example, & retired forest worker, a corrections officer, an
auto mechanic, a physical therapist, a retired New York City
school secretary, who iz now 86 years old and widowed, who must
deal with the loss of her retirement funds. Their money is
gone, leaving only a sense of betrayal.

I wags particularly struck by one story rhat I read in
the letters. A man invested his family's life savings with
Mr. Madoff. Tragically, he died of a héart attack just two
weeks later. The widow eventually went in to see Mr. Madoff.
He put his arm around her, as she describes it, and in a kindly
mannmer told her not to worry, the money is safe with me. and
so not only did the widow leave the woney with him, she
eventually deposited more funds with him, hexr 401(k}, her
pension funds; Now, all the money is gone. She will have to
se1l her home, and she will not be able to keep her promise to
help her granddaughter pay for college. |

A substantial sentence will not give the vigtims back
their retirsment funds or the moneys they.saved ro send Chelr
children or grandchildren to college. It will not give them
back their financial gecurity or the freedom from financial

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212} BOB~0Z00
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worry. But more is at stake than money, asg we have heard. The
vicﬁims put their trust in Mr. Madoff. That trust wasg broken
in a way that has left many -- victims as well as others --
doubting our financial institutiong, our financizal system, our
government's ability to regulate and protect, and sadly, even
themselves.

I do not agree that the victims are succumbing to the
temptation of mob vengeance. Rather, they are doing what they
are supposed to be doing -- placing their trust in our system
of justice. A substantial sentence, the knowledge that
Mr. Madoff has besen punished to the fullest extent of the law,
may, in some small measure, help these victims in thelr healing
process.,

Mr. Madoff, please stand.

It is the Judgment of this Court that the defendant,

Bernard L. Madoff, shall be and hereby lg sentenced to a term

of imprisomment of 150 years, consisting of 20 years on each of

Counte 1, 3, 4, 5, &6, and 10, & years on each of Counts 2, B,
9, and 11, and 10 vears on Count 7, all to run consecutively to‘
earch other. &As a technical matter, the sentence musi be
expressed on the judgment in menths. 150 years is eguivalent
to 1,800 months.

Although it is academic, for technical reasons, I must
alsc impose supérvised release. I impoge a term of supervised
release of 3 years on each count, all to zun concurrently. The

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERE, P.C.
(212 805-0300
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mandatory, standard, and special conditions are imposed, as set
forth oﬁ pages 58 and 52 of the PSR.

T will not impese a fine, as whatever asgets
M. Madoff has, as whatever assets may be found, they ghall be
applied to restitution for the victims.

As previocusly ovdered, I will defer the issue of
regtitution for 90 days.

Finally, I will impose the mandatcry special
assessment of $1,100, $100 for each count.

Mr. Sorkin, any reguasts?

MR. SCRKIN: Yes, vyour Honor.

as you pointed out to one of the victimg, you cannct
designate a prison, but we would ask, based upon an analysis
rhat we have done that in 75 percent of the cases |
recommendations made by the court are followed by the Bureau of
Prisons, we respectiully reguest that your Honor recommend to
the Bureau of Priscons that Mr. Madoff be designated Lo

Otisville.

THE COURT: I will recommend to the Bureau of Priscnsg
that Mr. Madofﬁ be designated to an appropriate facility in the
northéast region of the United States.

MR . SORKIN: Thank vou.

THE COURT: Ms. Baroni?

MS. BARONI: Two issues. I1f you can specifically

incorporate by relerence the Fforfeiture order of Friday,

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-0300
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pronounce it

incorporated.

%1,100.

THE

MS.

THE

MS.

THE

M.

as part of the sentencs.

COURT: The forfeiture order isg heraby

BARONI: &pécial assesgsment.

DEFENDAKNT: I did the special assessment of

BARONT: Thank vou.
COURT: Mr. Madoff, please stand one more time.

Madoff, vou have the right to appeal at least

certain aspects of this judgment. and conviction. If you wish

to appeal, you must do 80 within ten daves. I you cannot

afford an attorney, the court will appoint one for you.

We are adjourned.

{Adjourned)

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) BO5-0300
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JAMES CLARKSON (JC-7687)
ACTING REGIONAL BIRECTOR
Andrew M. Calamari (AC-4864)
Alexander M. Vasilescu {AV-2575}
Israel Friedman (IF-1958)

Preethi Krishnamurthy (PK-2869)

Attorneys for Plaintiff j éj QGE» S*g‘ Aﬁ?@

. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
New York Regional Office

" 3 World Figancial Center
New York, NY 106281
£212) 336-1160

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF REW YORK

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE l {/ ;
Plaintiff,
- against -
BERNARD L. MADOFF,
BERNARD L . MADOFF INVESTMENT
SECURITIES LLC,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT
Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission™), for.its Complaint against
defendants Bernard L. Madoff (“Madoff”} and Bemafd L. Madoff Investment Securities L1.C
{(“BMIS™), alleges:
CSUMMARY
1. The Commission brings this emetgency action to halt ongoing fraudulent

offerings of securities and investment advisory fraud by Madoff and BMIS, a broker dealer and
investment adviser registered with the Commission. From an indeterminate period through the

present, Madoff and BMSI has commiited fraud through the investment adviser activities of
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RMIS. Yesterday, Madoff admitted to one or more employees of BMIS that for many years he
has been conducting a Ponzi-scheme through the investment adviser a'ctivities of BMIS and that
BMIS has liabilities of approximately $50 billion. Madoff told these employees that he intends
to distribute any remaining funds at BMIS to empioyées and certain investors in the investment
advisor business, such as family and friends. Such.a distribution wiil be unfair and inequitable to
other investors and creditors of BMIS.
2. Bxpedited relief 1s needed to halt the fraud and prevent the Defendants from
unfairly distributing the remaining assets in an unfair and inequitable manner fo employees,
" friend and relatives, at the expense of other customers. |
3, To halt the ongoing fraud, maintain the status quo and preserve any assets for
injured investors, the Commission seeks emergency relief, including temporary restraining
orders and preliminary injunctions, and an order: (i) imposing asset freezes against the
Ijefen.dants; (31) appointing a receivér over BMIS; (iii) allowing expedited discovery and
preventing the destruction of documents; and (iv) requiring the Defendants (o provide verified
accountings. The Commission also seeks permanent injunctions, disgorgement of ill-goften
gains, plus prejudgment interes{ and civil monetary penalties against all ;)f the Defendants.
VIOLATIONS
4. By virtue of the conduct alleged herein:
a. All Defendants directly or indirectly, singly or in concert, have engaged,
and are engaging, in acts, practices, schemes and courses of business that
constitute violations of Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the Advisers Act of

1940 (*Advisers Act”) [15 U.S.C. §8 80b-6(1), (2)], and Section 17(za) of
2
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the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act™), 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a) and
Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange
Act™, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §

240.10b-5.

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND RELIEF SOUGHT

7. The Comrﬁission brings this action pursuant to the authority conferred upon it by
Section 20(b) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(b), and Section 21{d)}(1) of the Exchange
Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(1), seeking to restrain and enjoin permanently the Defendants from
engaging in the acts, practices and courses of business alleged berein.

8. In addition to the injunctive and emergency relief recited above, the Commission
seeks: (1) final judginents ordering Defendants to disgorge their ill-gotten gains with prejudgment
iﬁterest thereon; and (if) final judgments ordering the Defendants to pay civil penalties pursuant
to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(d), and Section 21{d}(3} of the Exchange
Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3).

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

10.  This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 214 of the
Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b-14], Section 22(a} of the Secwrities Act [ 15 U.S.C. § 77v(a)} and
Sections 21(e) and 27 of the Exchange Act[ 15U.8.C. §§ 78ule) and 78aal.

11.  Venue is proper in the Southem District of New York pursuant to 28 US.C.

§ 1391. The Defendants, directly and indirectly, have made use of the means and
instrumentalities of interstate commerce, 0T of the matls, in connection with the traﬁsactionsa

acts, practices and courses of business alleged hereini. A substantiai part of the events

3
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comprising Defendants’ fraudulent scheme that gives rise to the Commission’s claims occurred
in the Southern District of New York, inciuding that BMIS is located and headquared in this
District and certain of Madoff and BMIS committed their fraudulent securities and adviser
activities in this District.

THE DEFENDANTS

12, adoffis a resident of New York City and is the sole owner of BMIS. BMIS’ |
website indicates that Madoff founded BMIS in the early 1960s and that he is an atiorney.
Madoffis a former Chairman of the board of directors of the NASDAQ stock market. BMIS is
hoth a broker-dealer and investment adviser registered with the Commission. Madotf oversees
and controls the irvestment adviser services at BMIS as well at the overall finances of BMIS.

13, BMIS is a broker-dealer and investment advisor registered in both capacities with
the Commissior. BMIS engages in three different operations, which inqlude investment adviser
services, market making services and proprietary trading. BMIS’ wébsite states that it has been
providing quality executions for broker-dealers, banks and financial instiiutions since its
inception in 1960;” and that BMIS, " wiith more than $700 million in firm capital, Madoff
currénﬂy ranks among the top 1% of US S.ecurities firms.” The most recent Form ADV for
BMIS filed in January 2008 with the Commissian stated that BMIS had over $17 billion in assets
under managemeﬁt, and 23 clients. BMIS represented that its trading strategy for adviser
accounts involved trading in baskets.of equity securities and options thereon.

FACTS
14.  From an indeterminats time to the present, Madoff and BMIS have been

conducting a Ponzi-scheme through the investment adviser services of BMIS.

4
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15.  Madoff conducts certain investment advisory business for clients that is separate
from the BMIS’ proprietary trading and market making activities.

16.  Madoff ran his investment adviser business from a separate floor in the New York
offices of BMIS.

17.  Madoff kept the financial statemeﬁts for the firm under lock and key, and was
“cryptic” about the firm’s investment advisory business when discussing the business with other
employees of BMIS.

18.  Inor about the first week of December 2008, Madoff told a senior employee that
there had been requests from clients for approximately $7 billion in redemptions, that he was
struggling to obtain the iiqujdify necessary to meet those obligations, but that he thought that he
would be able to do so. According to this senim; employee, he had previously understood fhat
the investment advisory business had assets under management on the order of between
approximately $8-15 bilhon.

19. - Onor about December 9, 2008, Madoff informed another senior employee that he
wanted topay 2008 bonuses to employees of the firm in December, which was earlier thén
employee bonuses are usually paid.

20.  Bonuses traditionally have been paid at BMIS in February of each year for the
pervious year’s work. |

21.  Onor about December 10, 2008, the two senior employees refcrenced aBove
visited Madoff at the offices of BMIS to discuss the situation further, particularly because
Madoff had appeared to these two seﬁjor employees to have been under great stress in fhe prior

weeks.
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22. At that time, MadofT informed the senior employees that he had recently made
profits through business operations, and that now was a good time to distribute it. When the
senior emplovee challenged his explanation, Madoff said that he cﬁd not want to talk to them at
thé office, and arranged a meeting at Madoif’s apartment in Manhattan. At that meeting Madoff
stated, in substance, that he “wasn’t sure he would be able to hold it together” if they continued
to discuss the issue at the office.

23. At Madoff’s Manhattan apartment, Madoff informed the two senior employees, s}
substance, that his investment advisory business was a fraud. Madoff stated that he was
“finished,” that he had “absolutely nothing,” that “it’s all just one big lie,” and that 1t was
“hasically, a giant Ponzi scheme.” In sﬁbstance, Madoff communicated to the senior emplovees
that he had for years been paying refurns to certain investors out of the principal received. from
other, different, investors. Madoff stated that the business was insolvent, and that it had been for
vears. Madoff also stated that he estimated the losses from this fraud to be approximately $50
billion. One of the senior employees has a personal account at BMIS in which several miliion
had been invested under the management of Madoft. |

24. At Madoff's Manhattan apartment, Madoff further informed the two senior
employees referenced above that, in approximately one week, he planned to surrender to
authorities, but before he did that, he had approximately $200-300 million left, and he planned o

use that money to make payments to certain selected employees, family, and friends.

-
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FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations of Sections 206{1} and 206(2) of the Advisers Act
(A gainst Madoff and BMIS)
(Fraud Upon Advisory Clients and Breach of Fiduciary Duty
by Investment Adviser)

25.  Paragraphs 1 through 24 are realleged and incorporated by reference as if set forth
fully herein.

26. Madoff and BMIS at all relevant tirﬁe were investment advisers within the
meaning of Section 201(11) of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b-2(11)] *

27,  Madoff and BMIS directly or indirectly, siﬂgly or 1n concert, knowingly or
recklessly, through the use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce,
while acting as investment advisers within the meaning of Section 202(11) of the Advisers Act
[15U.S.C. §80b-2(11)]: (a) have employed, are employing, br are about to empioy devices,
schemes, and artifices to defraud any client or prospective client;. or {b) have engaged, arc
engaging, or are about to engage in acts, practices, or courses of business which operates as a
fraud or deceit upon any client or prospective client.

28.  Asdescribed in the paragrapﬁs above, Madoff and BMIS violated Sections 206(1)
and 206{2) of the Advisers Act[15 U.S.C. §§ 80b-6(1}, (2)] and unless e:njoiﬁed will continue to

violate Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the Advisers Act {15 U.S.C. §§ 80b-6(1), (2}].

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIRY

Vielations of Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act
(Against all Defendants)
{Antifraud vioiations)

29.  Paragraphs 1 through 24 are realieged and incorporated by reference as if set forth
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fully herein.

30.  From at least 2005 through the present, the Defendants, in the offer and sale of
securities, by the use of the means and mstruments of transportation and :-:orrununication in
interstéte commerce o1 by the use of the mails, directly and indirectly, have employed and are
employing devices, schemés and artifices to defraud.

31, The Defendants knew or were reckless in not knowing of the activities described
above.

32, By reason of the activities herein described, the Defendants have violated and are

| violating Section 17(a}1) of the Securities Act {15 U.5.C. §77g{a){ )]

THIRD CEAIM FOR RELIEF

Violations of Section 17(a}(2) and 17(a){3} of the Securities Act
~ {Against all Defendants}
(Antifraud violations)
. 33. Paragraphs 1 through 24 are realieged and incorporated by reference as if set forth
fully herein.

34, From at least 2005, the Defendants, in the offer and sale of securities, by the use
of the means and instraments of tzans?ortation and communication in interstate commerce or by
the use of the mails, directly and indirectly, have obtained and are obtaining money and property
by means of untrue statements of material fact or omissions to state material facts necessary in
order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not miskteading, and have engaged and are engaging in transactions, practices or courses of

business which have operated and will operate as a fraud and deceit upon investors.

35. By reason of the activities herein described, the Defendants have violated and are

8
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violating Sections 17(a)}(2} and 17(2)(3) of the Securities Act {15 U.S.C. §77q{a)2) and

§77q(a)33].

FOURTH CEAIM FOR RELIEET

Violations of Section 18{(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5
(Against all Defendants)
" (Antifraud violations)

36, Paragraphs 1 through 24 are realleged and incorporated by reference as if set forth
fully herein,

37.  Trom at least 2005 through. the present, the Defendanfs, in connection with the
purchase and sale of securities, directly and indirectly, by the use of the means and
instrumentalities of interstate commerce or of the mails, have employed and are employing
devices, schemes and artifices to defraud; have made and are making untrue statements of
material fact and have and are omitting fo state material facts necessary in order to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and
have engaged and are engaging in acts, practices and courses.of business which operated as a
ifraud and deceit upon investors.

38.  Defendants knew or were reckless in not knowing of the activities described
above.

39. By reason of the activities herein described, the Defendants have violated and are

violating Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act {15 U.S.C. §§78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5{17 CF.R.

§240.10b-5] promulgated thereunder.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court grant the following relief:
L

Fnter judgment in favor of the Commission finding that the Defendants each violated the

securities laws and rules promulgated thereunder as alleged hereir;
I

An Order temporarily and preliminarily, and Final Judgments permanently, restraining
and permanently enjoining the Defendants, their agents, servants, employees and attorneys and
all persons in active concert or participation with them who receive actual notice of the
injunction by personal service or otherwise, and each of them, from committing future violations.

 of Section Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. §§80b-6(1) and 80b-6(2)].

HL

An Order temporarily and prelimiﬁarily, and Final Tudgments permanently, restraining
and p@rmanently enjoining the Defendants, their agents, servants, employees and attorneys and
all persons in active concert or participation with them who receive actual notice of the
injunction by personal service or otherwise, and each of them, from committing future violations
of Section 17(a) of the Securitieé Act, 15 U.5.C. § 77q(a), Section 10(b} of the Exchange Act, 15

U.S.C. § 78j(b) and Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

i0
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iv.

An order directing the Defendants to disgorge their ill-gotten gains, plus prejudgment

interest thereon.
Y.

Final Judgments directing the Defendants to pay civil money penalties pursuant to
Section 209(e) of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b-9], Section 20(d) of the Securities Act f15

U.8.C. § 77t(d)] and Section 21(d)(3) of the Exchange Act {15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3)].
VIL

Grenting such other and further relief as to this Court seems just and proper.

Drated:. New York, New York

- December 11, 2008 o, W
By:% A

Jathes Clarkson (JC-7657)
Asgéciate Regional Director
orney for Plaintiff
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION |
3 World Financial Center
New York, NY 10281-10622
(212) 336-0178

Of Counsel:

Andrew M. Calamari
Alexander M. Vasilesou
israel Friedman

Preethi Krishnamurthy
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